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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the "Board”), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Group Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "REMT" or the “Group”)
for the year ending December 31, 2024 (the "Year") for all stakeholders to review.

Introduction

In 2024, REMT continued to focus on the magnesium business while facing multiple challenges, including a slowdown in
global economic growth, structural adjustments in the Chinese industrial economy, and the impact of periodic overcapacity,
which has led to declining magnesium prices. Despite the clear advantages of magnesium over aluminum and its increasingly
diverse applications, domestic magnesium enterprises in China continue to suffer from cost pressures due to persistent price
inversions, with the overall industry remaining sluggish. There is a need to seek a balance between short-term pressures
and long-term strategic layouts.

Multiple Factors Leading to Continued Decline in Magnesium Prices

Production Growth but Price Pressure: In 2024, global magnesium production is expected to be approximately 1.13 million
tons, with China accounting for 1.026 million tons, or 90.8% of the total, reflecting a significant year-on-year increase of 25%.
However, magnesium prices showed a stepwise decline in 2024, with an annual drop of 21%. The domestic average price
for the year was RMB17,920 yuan/ton (a year-on-year decrease of 13%), hitting a low of RMB16,000 yuan/ton in December,
pushing the industry into overall losses. The reasons for the continuous price decline include:

1. Weak Demand:
Traditional application fields such as sponge titanium and steel desulfurisation are experiencing shrinking demand.
Although China's magnesium ingot exports grew by 13.6% year-on-year in 2024, the average price fell by 7.1%. Demand
for lightweight magnesium alloys in sectors like new energy vehicles and aerospace is increasing, but practical
usage remains below 15% due to limitations in technology maturity and costs. Downstream companies are cautious in
procurement due to declining prices, exacerbating inventory pressures.

2. Policy and Market Risks:
China's "dual carbon” policy has raised electricity costs, and the EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM)
has increased export uncertainties. The acceleration of industry consolidation has led to the exit of small capacities or
mismatches in supply and demand, further depressing prices.

3. Inventory Pressure:
Significant capacity release in major production areas such as Shaanxi and Xinjiang, combined with weak demand, has
led to an expected national total inventory exceeding 80,000 tons by December 2024, a historical high. The imbalance
between supply and demand has caused magnesium prices to drop below RMB16,000 yuan/ton, expanding the scope of
industry losses.

MR R BT IRA R AR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Magnesium Replacing Aluminum is Inevitable

The magnesium-aluminum price ratio has significantly fallen below a reasonable range: as of February 21, 2025, the
magnesium-aluminum price ratio dropped to 0.76 (magnesium price of RMB15,800 yuan/ton vs. aluminum price of
RMB20,800 yuan/ton), marking the lowest level since 2018 and further declining from 0.78 in November 2024. The long-
term magnesium-aluminum ratio has remained below 1.0, significantly below the reasonable range. Magnesium's density is
one-third lower than aluminum, with a theoretical magnesium-aluminum price ratio of 1.5; however, the current ratio of 0.76
highlights magnesium's cost advantages. Additionally, China has removed the export tax rebate on aluminum and restricted
electrolytic aluminum capacity, pushing downstream industries to switch to magnesium alloys.

New Diverse Applications of Magnesium

1. Lightweighting in New Energy Vehicles:

Magnesium alloys, with their low density and high strength, are widely used in
structural components of vehicles, such as electric drive housings and wheel hubs.
SAIC Motor Corporation has enhanced magnesium alloy performance through semi-
solid injection molding technology, applying it to the second-generation magnesium
alloy electric drive housing, which reduces weight by 30% compared to aluminum alloy
housings and lowers costs by 40%. This breakthrough marks a transition of magnesium
alloys from small structural components to large complex parts, expected to drive the
development of a 200,000-ton magnesium alloy electric motor housing industry.

2. Lightweighting in 3C Electronics:
The application of magnesium alloys in mobile phone casings, heat sinks, and computer
components continues to expand. For instance, Razer has launched a magnesium
alloy hollow wireless mouse that balances lightweight and high performance; Honor
has released an ultra-thin magnesium alloy laptop with a thickness of just 1 cm; and
Lenovo's “ThinkBook X2024Al” uses stainless magnesium alloy to resolve oxidation
issues, exceeding the corrosion resistance of marine aluminum.

3.  Medical Innovations:
The world’s first biodegradable magnesium cranial fixation system began multi-center
clinical trials in June 2024, filling a gap in neurosurgery with its biocompatibility
and controllable degradation. Medical magnesium alloys are gradually maturing in
orthopedic implants and dental restorations.

MR R BT IRA R AR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Hydrogen Storage and Transportation Breakthroughs:

Magnesium is recognised as the metal with the highest hydrogen storage density
among all solid-state storage materials, making it a highly promising hydrogen storage
material due to its high density, low operational costs, safety, and simple chemical
reactions with no by-products. According to the China Hydrogen Alliance, hydrogen
demand in China is expected to reach 60 million tons by 2050. It is estimated that 1 ton
of hydrogen requires about 20 tons of magnesium storage materials, with magnesium
accounting for over 80% of the materials. Assuming 20% of production needs storage,
and a magnesium-based hydrogen storage penetration of 1%, the long-term demand for
magnesium could reach as high as 1.92 million tons.

Building Templates:

Compared to mainstream aluminum alloy templates, magnesium alloys offer significant
advantages in lightweighting; each ton of raw material can produce more templates.
Magnesium templates exhibit good die-casting performance, and costs are expected to
decrease as die-casting mold amortisation and costs drop. Moreover, China has rich
reserves of raw magnesium and a complete industrial chain, making the supply chain
more secure and controllable compared to imported raw aluminum materials.

Aerospace and Robotics:

Magnesium alloys are used in aircraft structural components, rocket parts, and
humanoid robot joints, with semi-solid casting processes improving processing
efficiency. Demand for magnesium alloys in the defense and military sectors is steadily
increasing.

Low-altitude Economy:

Magnesium alloys show great potential in the low-altitude economy due to their
lightweight and high-performance advantages. As technology matures and policies
promote development, applications will expand from drones and electric vertical takeoff
and landing vehicles to broader aviation sectors. In the next five years, magnesium
alloys could become one of the main materials in the low-altitude economy if cost
control breakthroughs are achieved. It is estimated that by 2030, the global low-
altitude economy could exceed RMB 2 trillion yuan, driving a corresponding increase in
magnesium alloy demand with an average compound annual growth rate of 18%.

MR R BT IRA R AR
2024 PEFEHRE 9



TR®E (&)
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

[EERBEARNEZEXT]

HINZAIESR  REREETPREARRRSIEREMZ(ANEEERELCTEBEHRNER)ARTEBRESRE
RANEXEBRABRBERPONER  AEETRARMBEAKS RBER AR (THEIEEA) AAEMITERZ E MR
FRERFEBEAVEE05FEANTHRER IMEEREARICE WREERENTRARNEERBEIMREZTER
AREED ERBEAMEEARESERES  HERACD M EMBN BB IEBE20265F TR MR EERKE T HREUE -
R HEBIEFTSCRETEEREGHEN  BREETRRSIERRIKRE  BERE BEAESFHTATKE
REEREARBELR  URREBERETLE -

RE

024 FREISEEXBBRMERE  BRIFT SRAR EHER BF XBFEAHERABRLCER FEFEER
BEREHEMEREZR EFLE-SHEXNACAHETRZAFAERERE ) -cBEMTH2RHRFTHIRRE B
RAB T (TEERRR RABNEARIEELERE  EREFERELE  KLRARBE-—F LT -

AAERRAEEHZRE EFEKRE TP RITIRGEAHFNEZERC - EUREAEENRN I IHBUARD
MRS HEEZRBETHSERABUABRNHE - EE2REEFRAEEBEERAES T PHERLERRL
LR BREXELBFLHEFTRELSHE  EBBRMAFH  REIXHRAFCENFRE ENEBREE
HPUNEXBR - BRMBMETTH - BEEA !

M
T

FEB ZE-RAFE=A=Z+N\H

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
1[] Annual Report 2024

EE®mE (H)
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Upgrading Production Facilities is Imperative

As previously reported, to implement the requirements of China's Ministry of Ecology and Environment and other functional
departments regarding the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry and the National Development and
Reform Commission’s guidelines on industrial structural adjustments, the local government in Hami, Xinjiang, where our
subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as Xinjiang Tengxiang) is located,
requires that Xinjiang Tengxiang complete the upgrade of its coal tar production facilities by the end of 2025. Meeting
ultra-low emission standards for these production facilities will require substantial investment. Given the current funding
pressure on the Group, Xinjiang Tengxiang has applied to the local government for an extension until 2026 to complete the
upgrades. Additionally, the board of Xinjiang Tengxiang has authorised management to take proactive measures, including
but not limited to introducing venture capital, equity financing, and project cooperation to ensure the normal production of
the magnesium plant.

Prospects

In 2024, China's magnesium industry is expected to achieve large-scale applications in sectors such as new energy, medical,
and transportation through technological breakthroughs, policy support, and scene expansion. Although emerging application
fields offer long-term growth potential, it is necessary to further reverse cost inversions and innovate processes to release
greater potential. The magnesium market is exhibiting a “strong supply and weak demand” pattern, with prices under
downward pressure and the industry facing multiple challenges from environmental protection, cost pressures, and supply-
demand imbalances. If effective corrections cannot be made, operational risks will further increase.

| would like to express heartfelt thanks on behalf of the Group to all shareholders, board members, customers, banks,
partners, and colleagues for their continued support. | extend sincere gratitude to all employees of the Group for their
outstanding performance. In the context of deep reconstruction of the global economy and consumption downgrade, the
Chinese real economy faces challenges of business pressure, overcapacity in traditional industries, and weak consumer
demand. However, through technological innovation, policy support, and digital transformation, we are accelerating the
construction of a more resilient industrial system. Let us forge ahead with determination!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$242,700,000
(2023: HK$263,491,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
7.9%. During the Year, the overall gross loss was HK$51,376,000
(2023: HK$85,281,000). The loss attributable to shareholders was
HK$408,419,000 (2023: HK$423,600,000).

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

—E_F —ET=-= —=EF_—

2024 2023 2022
FHET TAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RER) (&'Z) (5 z)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

A Revenue 242,700 263,491 383,899
EAH Gross (loss)/profit (51,376) (85,281) 46,614
FEH = Gross (loss)/profit margin (21.2%) (32.4%) 12.1%
KR rlEAR AEG (Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of

(E518), % 7 the Company (408,419) (423,600) 1,404
4 ) 2 Net profit margin TiEAN/A N EAN/A 0.4%

BEBRE Total asset
-kt Total equity
RITHRE Cash at banks

fEELE

Gearing ratio

1,025,167 1,442,531 1,873,174
155,490 612,961 1,095,952
24,716 39,954 38,297

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The Group’s revenue in 2024 recorded a 7.9% decline to approximately
HK$242.7million (2023:HK$263.5 million). The Group continued to
focus on its magnesium business despite facing a challenging market
environment. The global economic slowdown, structural adjustments in
China’s industrial economy, and a temporary oversupply in production
capacity led to a persistent decline in magnesium prices. Although
the increasing diversification of magnesium applications and the cost
advantages of magnesium over aluminum provided some support
to demand, the industry remained under pressure due to prolonged
price inversion. Domestic magnesium producers faced continued cost
pressures, and the overall market downturn had yet to see fundamental
improvement, requiring companies to balance short-term financial strain
with long-term strategic planning.

Although the Group’s sales volume of magnesium products increased
from 12,300 tons in 2023 to 13,678 tons in 2024, the average selling price
declined from HK$21,337 per ton in 2023 to HK$17,564 per ton in 2024,
leading to a revenue decline. As a result, the Group recorded an overall
gross loss of HK$51.4million (2023:HK$85.3 million).

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses remained stable at approximately
HK$2.3million (2023:HK$2.3 million), primarily consisting of marketing
expenses and sales staff wages. The selling and distribution expenses-
to-revenue ratio was maintained at 0.9% (2023: 0.9%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses totaled approximately HK$57.5 million
(2023:HK$83.7 million), with the decrease mainly attributable to cost-
cutting measures, including reductions in discretionary expenditures.
Administrative expenses primarily consisted of staff remuneration,
depreciation and amortization, audit and professional fees, and research
and development costs.

Impairment and Allowance

In 2024, the Group recognized a non-recurring, non-cash impairment
provision on non-current assets, amounting to HK$252.1 million
(2023:HK$203.9 million), reflecting the continued underperformance of
its magnesium business. Additionally, the Group recorded a reversal of
allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables, deposits, and
other receivables, amounting to HK$1.78million (2023:HK$3.99 million).
This reversal was primarily due to the successful collection of aged
trade receivables during the year.

R R BT IRA R AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year totaled HK$54.9million, representing a 12.5%
year-on-year increase. This primarily comprised effective interest
expenses on borrowings under the Creditors’ Scheme, which were non-
cash in nature and did not impact the Company’s cash flow.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s gearing ratio, representing the total borrowings divided by
total assets, was 69.8% (2023: 47.7%). At 31 December 2024, cash in bank
was HK$24,716,000 (2023: HK$39,954,000).

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

In 2024, the Group’s magnesium product business underperformed,
incurring losses due to the global economic slowdown. Given the poorer
than expected economic performance of the cash-generating unit
(“CGU"), management indicated potential impairment and assessed the
assets. The carrying amounts for property, plant, and equipment; right-
of-use assets; intangible assets; and mining rights were approximately
HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000), HK$21,822,000 (2023:
HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023: HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000
(2023: HK$35,871,000), respectively.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of the CGU, including
corporate assets, at around HK$741,532,000. The value in use was
calculated based on five-year cash flow projections, with a pre-tax
discount rate of 13.55% and a growth rate of 3.00%, in line with industry
forecasts.

The impairment assessment indicated that the CGU’s recoverable
amount was lower than its carrying amount. The impairment loss
recognized for property, plant and equipment; right-of-use assets;
intangible assets; and mining rights was HK$233,842,000 (2023:
HK$188,941,000), HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000
(2023: HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000).
respectively, ensuring no asset’s carrying amount fell below its
recoverable amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses
its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and considers managing
this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of
means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The procedures required
that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep
track of their transaction records and credit history.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$108,833,000 while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$24,716,000. As disclosed in note 39 to the

financial statements, the Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able
to raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
functional departments of the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function
of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess
key operational exposures and effect raised in business development
regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control
so that risk can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective
manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In response to the requirements of the Chinese Government’s Ministry
of Ecology and Environment and other functional departments regarding
the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry, as well
as the guidelines for industrial restructuring issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission, the local government in Hami,
Xinjiang, where REMT’s subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium
Products Co., Ltd. (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”) is located, has mandated that
designated industry production facilities must undergo upgrading and
renovation. This includes major magnesium production enterprises
like Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily utilise lanthanum coke tail gas
for magnesium refining. Due to the fact that the lanthanum charcoal
production line at Xinjiang Tengxiang was built and put into operation
in October 2010, the facilities of the production line have become aged,
outdated, and inefficient, with a low level of energy efficiency and
outdated technology. It no longer complies with the industrial policies
of the Chinese government. The upgrade and transformation of coking
enterprises in the Hami region have been included as a key focus of local
government supervision and regulation in 2024. Xinjiang Tengxiang has
been requested to promptly implement the upgrade and transformation
of the outdated technology in the lanthanum charcoal production
facilities. Shortly after completing the restructuring of our offshore
debts, we still face numerous challenges. Market demand is weak,
and there is a tight cash flow. However, the environmental upgrade
and renovation require a significant amount of capital investment. In
light of the current financial constraints faced by the Group, Xinjiang
Tengxiang has applied to the local government for an extension until
2026 to complete the upgrade and renovation of its semi-coke production
facilities. Meanwhile, the board of directors of Xinjiang Tengxiang has
authorised the management team to take proactive measures, including
but not limited to attracting venture capital, equity financing, and
project cooperation, to ensure the successful completion of the upgrade
and renovation project for the semi-coke production facilities, thereby
ensuring the normal production of the magnesium plant.
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EEENWR DM (&)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its
return period relative to the expected return or occurrence of losses
on any particular investment attributable to changes of external
factors. The Group is well aware of the importance of exploring
various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis,
and implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of
projects investment framework will be balancing risk and return across
different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the
investment decision process. Proper investment assessment and due
diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will be
made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of
the investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

The Group successfully completed its offshore debt restructuring in
2022; however, domestic bank loan litigation has progressed to the
execution stage. As disclosed in the 2023 Annual Results, Baishan
Tianan Magnesium Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (“Baishan Tianan”) received a
summons from a PRC court on 2 June 2021 for failing to meet the terms
of a loan agreement with a PRC-based bank. The bank subsequently filed
a claim against Baishan Tianan, demanding immediate repayment of the
outstanding principal, interest, and associated fees.

The loan was secured by Baishan Tianan’s land use rights, factory
buildings, and machinery located in Baishan City, Jilin Province, China
(collectively referred to as the “Baishan Tianan Assets”). As of the
date of this report, the outstanding principal amount owed to the bank
stands at RMB64 million. On 5 February 2024, the Baishan Court issued
an execution ruling and informed the Company that the Baishan Tianan
Assets would be auctioned between 10 March 2024 and 11 March 2024,
with a starting bid price of approximately RMB132.79 million. The auction
proceeds were expected to be used primarily to settle Baishan Tianan’s
debt obligations. The first auction, however, was unsuccessful. On 3 May
2024, the Group received a notification from the Baishan Court that the
Baishan Tianan Assets would be subject to a realisation auction. This
auction was scheduled to take place between 2 May 2024 and 21 July
2024, with a starting bid of approximately RMB106 million. Unfortunately,
the realisation auction also proved unsuccessful. The Baishan Tianan
Assets have been idle for several years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the
Group’s rapid business development while at the same time facing
severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of
manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being able to recruit and
retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which
would meet with our business objectives. Our Group will periodically
conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation structure so as
to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment
channels are broadened and the talent pool of senior management are
strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities
and career path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being
further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and the
dissemination of corporate cultures and values.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC
Government is paying increasing attention to environmental rules
and policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements.
The Group's subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have
been operating for a long while which might lag behind in certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC
Government. The Group monitors impact on business development
closely raised from movements of environmental policy and external
factors. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to improving
and maintaining the long term sustainability of the communities in which
it operates. The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily operation of
the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources, energy saving
measures and water saving practices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China while the Company is listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 340 as at 31
December 2024. The remuneration of employees was determined by the
Group with reference to their performance, work experience and current
market conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical
insurance and provident fund scheme. There has been no labour dispute
or significant change in the relationship with the employees that affect
the normal operations of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners, shareholders, investors and banks to achieve
its long- term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the
Group has formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship,
and also holds tailored activities from time to time, such as annual/
extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows.
Accordingly, our senior management has kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update about
development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material dispute between our Group and
its business partners or banks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province,
the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit method, and therefore no
additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple
infrastructure works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The transportation cost is relatively low due to the close
proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese
resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December 2024, the anticipated
resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly
reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining resource and
reserve volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’s internal
geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the dolomite
output was 90,455 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December
2023, there was no material change in the resource estimate and ore
reserve of the dolomite mine.

The expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was
HKS$nil for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
to the long-term development of the Group and has devoted considerable
efforts in identifying, formulating, implementing and enhancing corporate
governance practices in accordance with the needs of the Group. As
mentioned below, the Company has established the relevant committees/
sub- committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve internal
controls and enhance transparency of business operation of the Group
with a view to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), save for
the deviations as disclosed in “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”
section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct of the Group regarding securities transactions of
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms no less exactly
than required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

References are made to the section headed [ INTENDED USE OF
PROCEEDS Jin the listing document of rights issue (the [ Listing
Document]) of the Company dated 6 October 2023. The net proceeds
from the Rights Issue (after deducting the underwriting fees and other
related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the Rights
Issue) amounted to approximately HK$14.4 million (the[ Net Proceeds]) .

The below table sets out the use of net proceeds and the utilised net
proceeds from the Rights Issue up to 31 December 2024:

Ez i
20245 2024 BAXEHA
ARFEREFE 12A318 12A31A FeREREN
Wit 8 A% EBHASE  ABALH EHER
Amount Unutilised Expected timeline
utilisedupto  balance as at for utilising the
Planned use of 31 December 31 December unutilised
Net Proceeds in total 2024 2024 Net Proceeds
ABET % BEET AEET
HK$ million %  HKS$ million HK$ million
ERERNTEREERT Covering ongoing administrative and TER
operating expenses 12 50.0 72 - N/A
REFEERAZEEBRHEE  Nurturing the growth of the Group's
(MZHEERAL  RER existing magnesium business, such as
MRRES) supporting production costs, facilitating TER
the purchase of raw materials, etc. 72 50.0 72 - N/A
@zt Total 144 100.0 144 -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Sound Poon
Sheng Hong
Shen Yimin

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its financial
performance, including preparing and approving financial statements
and overseeing operational matters of the management, considering
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices and agenda
of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at least fourteen
days before the meetings to ensure that all Directors are given the
opportunity to attend and to include matters in the agenda. Discussion
materials of regular board meetings are sent to all Directors for their
study at least three days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of board
meetings are circulated to all Directors for review and comments within
a reasonable time after the meetings prior to confirmation. Minutes are
recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the Board and
decisions reached.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and practices (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four board meetings were
held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate of each Director
at meetings of the Board, its committees and General Meetings is as
follows:

BITEE Executive Directors

Lt Shum Sai Chit

S Chi Sile

BYBTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RAAR Cheung Sound Poon

B Sheng Hong (i)

TRE Shen Yimin (ii)

BRxX Kwong Ping Man (iii)

e Lin Pengxuan (iv)

Pt/ Brzed
Attended/held
E=g B B2 2]
g% ZEE€E8E ZEgE; £EE8 REAE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration Members
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
n - 11 1/1 11
n - - - 11
n 44 /1 1/1 11
1/1 1/1 11 11 -
2/2 2/2 11 1/1 11
2/2 2/2 1/1 - 1/1

0) RZZEZWFAATAREE
(ii) R-ZZE-_ME+_—_A-+RHEZT
(i) RZZTZWFEANAZT/N\HREME

(iv) RZTZWFALAZ=+=HEHME

1 E MR AIE3.1001) % (2) - LA K3.10AMK 2 #
EARBELZERHEE 2B IERTTE
FMBUNTEFFNELE—ELAEE
HECHEEVEERER -EF2EK
BB ITESRE EMARAEFEI 13K
MEBLEMEREL < FERREL

EXeNECRYEFERRME - X5
KB EMER FHEORE -

(i) Appointed on 16 September 2024
(ii) Appointed on 20 December 2024
(i) Retired on 28 June 2024

(iv)  Resigned on 23 September 2024

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have been
appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent Non-executive
Directors has appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of its Independent Non- executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes in the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time. Apart from encouraging the Directors
to participate in continuous professional development (“CPD”) courses
to refresh and enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also
arranged an industry-related in-house seminar for the Directors and
provided them with reading materials relating to the directors’ duties. All
Directors have provided the Company with their records of training they
received during the year ended 31 December 2024.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

&R EI
Egne
Types of
continuous
professional
development
5= Directors training Mot
HITESE Executive Directors
ot Shum Sai Chit B
oth Hfr 44 Chi Sile B
BIAFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
iR & AN Cheung Sound Poon AKB
Aand B
B it Sheng Hong AKB
Aand B
TR Shen Yimin AKB
Aand B
B EE - Notes:
A o A B S IR AR A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MERE HORABARFREBXIEZTBRER B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

BEE - EmRAIREMEREEREENERS
77 EH) BT E #

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continuea)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms of
Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make appropriate recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(d) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the following
corporate governance duties:

Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate Governance
Report included in the 2023 annual report of the Company; and

Adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive Officer
in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive Director, has
been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the management
of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of the Group’s operations
and the Board considers that Mr. Shum Sai Chit is well qualified to take
up the role of the Chief Executive Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer, the
Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief Executive Officer
and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which there is deviation to code
provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules, which provides (among other matters) that the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had
been in charge of the overall management of the Company since 2015
and the Company considered that such arrangement would promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies
which would enable the Group to further develop its businesses
effectively at this stage. The Board will review the current structure
from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the
Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term, and
shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

R R EEERARAR]
2024 PEFEHRE 27



EEERRE ()

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEBET2ZES

BAl ARAE=ZMEEE DRRELE
Eﬁ-ﬁ %@)ﬂ%;%&k%égmoﬂé,\g
EREFEERE TR INGHEETSET
HBGMEEAKERERBEZ2FH - &%
,\E.Zﬁ!é&ﬂ‘sﬂz gEMRuan T

BERZZBEERN—NANANFRIL - ARARER
BT ZTABRNERAEZZBE S 2 BE
HE -BRZZBEEH-_RBUFNTEFH
B BIREATE(BFRERESER) ~ B
TEREBRAE -

BERZBEZIERBERREBURERY
ﬁﬁ%E#ﬁﬁi&ﬁﬂ$’ilﬁ’]W*B% B o

ERZBERRNEFCERZZE WA
REEER  AHEFGNERLEZE -

ERZEBERNBE_T_HNF+ _A=1—
BlEzFERABTBAOREH BREBEEC
T+t A=t—BLEFEZRBESE
FEBE_ZT_NFRA=THIERERZH
WA UHRZSVHREAMEAZE
FHEAIRER  UEAERZRBHRINE
BEHERRF -

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
respectively. Each committee is delegated with specific authorities by the
Board in assisting the Board to discharge its duties and to administer
particular aspects of the Group’s activities. The roles and functions of
each committee are summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company has adopted
Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with the
Code. The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen Yimin.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide an
independent and professional advice on financial reporting and review
the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant issues
discussed by the Committee for the Board’s information and/or
consideration.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings in the year ended 31
December 2024 and has reviewed the final results for the period ended
31 December 2023 and the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2024, and confirmed that the accounting principles and practices
adopted as well as the disclosures made in such financial statements
were appropriate, accurate and fair.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continuea)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2024, and reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises an
Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (Chairman of Remuneration
Committee) and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Sound Poon and Mr. Sheng Hong.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Company. It schedules to meet at least once a year to review and
determine the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and
senior management and to make recommendation to the Board of the
remuneration of Non-executive Director. In determining and approving
the remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Company,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year ended
31 December 2024 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, etc..
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The Company has
adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee with reference
to the Code. The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and
two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon and Mr. Sheng Hong..

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors, assessing the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year ended 31
December 2024, together with by means of written resolutions, to review
and deal with the following major issues:

Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual Directors
as well as their roles and responsibilities in the Group to ensure
the existing Board structure is fit for the business growth of the
Group; and

Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board members.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and competence,
and the candidates will be considered against certain objective criteria
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional qualifications, areas of experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services, etc. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total remunerations paid/
payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of the audit
services and non-audit services are as follows:

FET
B 7 38 5l Types of services HK$’000
EAIZ RS Audit services 790
IEEZ RS Non-audit services 145
#Er Total 935

EERRMBRR2ERE

EEMAFEEEARUTAEERA TR
MAEBEEFRANEE ZHMBERE - HE
TECNE+-A=+—HILEE KEE
SIS 4R S F B 1B 49408,419,00078 7T ©

ARBGBMAEEPBERRZBEETR
BREN AIE F 5 BL8E FE5AE Z [ B
HEDRE A -

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group’s affairs and results. The Group recorded a consolidated net loss
of approximately HK$408,419,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 48 to 55 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been appointed
as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration in Insurance, Financial and Actuarial Analysis from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and he is member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 10 years of
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate
finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition to the Company’s
registered office. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may
do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general meeting
if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly signed by
the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied by a statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements. The Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79
and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to the
management and corporate governance of the Group from Shareholders.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and/or concerns to
the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com. hk), by fax ((852) 2802
2697) or by mail to the principal place of business of the Company for
follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company was
updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong (“Stock Exchange”) on 4 July 2023 and there is no other
change in such constitutional document during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and internal
control of the Group. The system of internal control is designed to
manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
with reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The scope of
review would cover risk management functions, financial, operational
and compliance controls, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing
guideline on handling inside information. The Company regularly reminds
the directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted
by the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by increasing
its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the Group
and to facilitate a two-way communication between the Company and its
Shareholders:

(a) Mailing corporate communication documents such as interim
reports, annual reports and circulars to the Shareholders
periodically and uploading the same on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b)  Publishing announcements through the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of views
between the Shareholders and the management of the Company;
and

(e) Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company through
the Company’s website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 28 June 2024, all the resolutions
relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-election of Directors,
reappointment of auditors and grant of general mandates to issue and
repurchase shares have been duly passed. The forthcoming AGM of
the Company is scheduled to be held in June 2025 or any other dates
as specified in further notice of AGM meeting to be published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 67, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director
of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in manufacturing
of textile products and trading activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined
Fujian Textiles Import and Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee
importing and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate
of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum was also an
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock

code: 509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 36, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment, she was the
director of investor relations department of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) and responsible for managing investor
relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA degree from the University of Hong Kong
and a double degree of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Western Australia. Ms. Chi is the daughter of Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, the chairman and executive director of Century Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 64, is currently a senior audit manager
at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W. K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience in accounting
and auditing. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).

Mr. Sheng Hong, aged 61, is a director of SWIFTOWN Development
Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN (Shanghai) Trading Limited.
The SWIFTOWN Group is principally engaged in design and sales
of metallic products. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in
management of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to 1996. Mr. Sheng
was an independent non-executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509.HK) from 24 September 2010 to 15
September 2024. Mr. Sheng holds a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Mr. Shen Yimin, aged 61, has been acting as an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509.HK) since January 2022. Mr. Shen had been an
independent non-executive director and a member of the audit committee
of Century Sunshine from May 2003 to September 2008.

Mr. Shen obtained a lawyer’s license issued by the department of justice
(A]7XE2) from Fujian Province of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
in September 2019. Mr. Shen also obtained a qualification certificate
issued by China Securities Regulatory Commission to practice securities
laws in the PRC in July 1996. He graduated from Fudan University in the
PRC with a major in Economics Law in July 1992. Mr. Shen was a partner
of Fujian Zhi Li Law Office (fB@ EEIE M EHFT) and the former
principal of Fujian Fuzhou Foreign Economics Law Office (1224 &/

HIMEEREEAT).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 60, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese Language
and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15 years of relevant
experience in corporate affairs management. Prior to joining the Group,
he has worked in a large alloy enterprise for over 25 years. He joined
the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAI Haisheng, aged 56, currently serves as the chief Engineer of the
group. Mr. Bai graduated from the Department of Materials Science and
Engineering, with a specialization in thermal processing from Taiyuan
University of Technology. Before joining the group, he was responsible
for the production process technology and product research and
development management in several large magnesium enterprises and
has over 20 years of extensive experience in the magnesium industry. He
joined the Group in 2016.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, also aged 48, is responsible for the production
management of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of practical and
management experience in the magnesium industry and is adept in the
production process of magnesium and magnesium alloys as well as on-
site organizational management. He joined the Group in 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the financial statements,
respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can
be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 12
to 20 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital importance
to the long-term development of the Group. In order to minimise the
environmental impact, the Group will continue to review and improve
the effectiveness of its management practices from time to time.
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” will be published on or
before 30 April 2025. For details, please refer to the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 56 to 174.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year under
review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders is recommended
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The accumulated losses of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$437,611,000.

R R EEERARAR]
2024 PEFEHRE 39

)
-



EEE8S (8

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

FEEXEFRMER
HE-_Z-_NE+_A=+—HIFE:

() AEBZEAREFEIAREFS 5
EAREE B A Z223.2%849.5% °

(i) AEBZzEAHEFIRAIANEERS
7 RIME 2N 5 B 42 BRBE RE 2 30.6% 52 53.8%
(TTBEEAME ZRBER) -

BEFEEMTH ARAZES EBEA
T RAEAI A AR B ANE 185% .2 B R I &
FERNBREP MATAAHER 2 (Ef#x -

MBERRE

REaKEZ W BSmE  BEBEREN
BERERAh2EBEREE - 81& - LIEEH
HREEHNEERINNREITEITCE - ZBE
WA KA EZ I B mT e — & o

N

B B 75 5% BT RESOPT B AN - N AR BRAR
FAMEZLE -

A 4 2 I 5 48

R-ZBE-ME+-AF=+—H8 AQRLE
AESRFEH (BEERE-AN—FAQF
E (B (TRBED ETE) - RIEBEAQARE -
RABINEREG T AIED IR FRE - g
BRANGBLAEEINHAEREEENA
BEEARNLEREAE TS UERA
BRIEM R B SAEL DR -

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

(i)  The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 23.2% and 49.5% respectively of the Group’s total
revenue.

(i)  The Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 30.6% and 53.8% respectively of the Group’s total
purchases (not including purchases of items which are of capital in
nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest customers
or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on pages 175 to 176. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements, there were
no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has no reserve available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”). Under the Companies Act,
the Company’s contributed surplus is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets
would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong (appointed 16 September 2024)
Shen Yimin (appointed 20 December 2024)
Kwong Ping Man (retired on 28 June 2024)

Lin Pengxuan (resigned on 23 September 2024)

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yimin will hold office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company and
being eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Ms.
Chi Sile will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself/herself
for re-election at the AGM. None of the Directors being proposed for
re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yimin, an annual confirmation confirming their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SF0")), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and

2R debenture of the Company
BREREIRARARECEBRYE
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested
RN
EBRITRE
-] 2R
Bs B AR RikERE  BREXAE DEER M B
Approximate
percentage of
interests in
the issued
share capital
Personal Family Number of Corporate of the
Director interests interests options held interests Total Company
Be
Long position
=
Nil
KRB
Short position
=
Nil
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations

(long position)

EEnP

Names of
Directors

Tt iE

Shum Sai Chit

St i 4
Chi Sile
RE A
Cheung Sound Poon
TRE

Shen Yimin

R LR AR

Name of associated
corporation

Gt ERERERA A
(MERBmx]l)

Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited
(“Century Sunshine”)

425 x

Century Sunshine

425t

Century Sunshine

45t

Century Sunshine

BRERZIRAREEZCEERYA (FR)
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be
interested (long position)

(PN £

Personal
interests

14,666,305

36,736,742

7,500

PR
KikfEE BREHE

Number of

Family options
interests held
- 20,000,000

- 5,000,000

16 A B %
28T

N

wE BI
% of issued

share

capital of

associated

Total  corporation

34,666,305 0.76%

36,736,842 0.80%
5,000,000 0.11%

7,500 0.007%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continved)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
(long position) (continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
their associates had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’'s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the Company
adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “Scheme”). The
qualifying participants mainly include employees and directors of the
Group and any substantial shareholders, and the consultants or adviser,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent, customer
and business partner of the Group who have contribution to the Group.
The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years since its establishing date. The remaining life of the
Scheme is approximately 3 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).

As at 31 December 2024, there was no options of outstanding under the
Scheme (the “Options”).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 38 of the annual
report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in force
for an indemnity against liability incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which any of the
Company’s holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that other
than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the
following Shareholder had notified the Company of relevant interests
and short positions in the issued share capital of the Company:

BRRER

Name of Shareholder

Ming Xin Developments Limited (Fif#£1) (note 1)
New Bright Group Limited (Fft5£2) (note 2)
B A EEERER DA (HEE3)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3)

3 E (B FEs)

Chi Wen Fu (note 4)

Thoughtful Limited (Bff5£5) (note 5)

Concord Sea Limited (Fff5£6) (note 6)

So Kit Yee Anita (Fff 75%6) (note 5 & 6)

Leung Hin Hang Fredric ( Bg5E556) (note 5 & 6)

FisEER HEBTRAE

R4 & E ZEDHK
Number of
ordinary % of issued

shares held share capital

699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
699,505,512 (L) 118.0
31,813,900 (L) 5.4
57,682,680 (L) 9.7
89,496,580 (L) 15.1
89,496,580 (L) 15.1

MiEE

(1) Ming Xin Developments Limited£237,049,786% A%
DREREEAN ]IT?EE$$%’FU%HK$431,A71,192
MAERESMMSOERERN (THERA
462,455,726 % ¥ B (R ) -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited&New Bright Group
Limitedz 2 & [t B 2 &) » BULL - 5078 5 R IR &
IS * New Bright Group Lmned%Biﬁ?%%ﬁMmg

Xin Developments Limited# A # =2 2 2 H 2
i

(3) New Bright Group leltedﬁﬁ'ﬁﬂﬁﬁtZ%ﬁWE
NEl WL RBEHELRBEKATE - LB

18 A% AMing Xin Developments leitedﬁﬁ%
mZ B 2 S o

(4) X ESRAEFEMLE K (Ming Xin Developments
LimitedZ REER A AF) BRAE LG =52
TEHO ERORME - Wl B G RAERAIM
T OANE %i?&ﬁﬁ%ﬁwng Xin Developments
Limited#E B w2 RN < % o

65 WEARAAHEHEFREEAZENOZE
RZ=ZTZZF )\ A 7 A #565,843,900/% B
ARE B 4 75 & A 7 (BDThoughtful Limited) ©
BELTNR G AR TR BAEES
Thoughtful Limitedif & 7 RIGEHE T Z W F
B E 711,010,000 @A o

(6) WBEAARAHEFREREAZEOZHE  RAR
—TZ=FNA /\Eﬂﬂmmesoﬁxaﬁéﬁ il
@477 2= 2 7) (BlConcord Sea Limited) ° #R )2 %
ZTHMBUEEERTENBEEEES - 2178
BESREFRE_S_NF+_A=+—8BFE
2B 721,090,000 @BA% o

NG
1773

@ o s'ﬂ#m#u

Notes:

M Ming Xin Developments Limited is the beneficial owner of 237,049,786 Shares and
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$431,471,192 (which is convertible into 462,455,726 new Shares).

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As such,
Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(5) According to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its scheme
creditors, the Company transferred 65,843,900 issued ordinary shares to the scheme
company (i.e. Thoughtful Limited) on 5 August 2022. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr.
Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several administrators of the scheme.
Thoughtful Limited has disposed 11,010,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2024 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

(6) According to the scheme of arrangement between the Century Sunshine and its
scheme creditors, Ming Xin Developments Limited transferred 79,012,680 issued
ordinary shares to the scheme company (i.e. Concord Sea Limited) on 6 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several
administrators of the scheme. Concord Sea Limited has disposed 21,090,000 ordinary
shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements, there
was no connected transaction during the year and in prior period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as at the latest practical
date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong Limited will retire and the Company will propose a
resolution at its forthcoming AGM to reappoint Prism Hong Kong Limited
as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Prism Hong Kong Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

T:+8522774 2188  F:+852 27742322
www.prism.com.hk

To the Shareholders of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 56
to 174, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is this matter that, in our professional judgment, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year. This matter was addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights

Refer to Note 3 and Note 18 to the Our audit procedures in relation to
consolidated financial statements. management’s impairment assessment
included but not limited to:

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amounts of property , plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
were approximately HK$687,793,000,
HK$21,822,000, HK$6,162,000 and
HK$25,755,000 respectively. Impairment valuation report prepared by the
losses of approximately HK$233,842,000, external valuer engaged by the
HK$7,419,000, HK$2,095,000 and Group.

HK$8,756,000 had been recognised
in respect of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
respectively.

Evaluating the external valuer's
independence, competence ,
capabilities and objectivity who
performed the business valuation;

Obtaining and reviewing the

Obtaining an understanding of
the valuation process adopted by
the external valuer, including the
valuation model adopted, CGUs
allocation and assumptions used;

Enquiring the external valuer
and management of the Group to
assess the reasonableness of the
significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source
data;

Challenging the key assumptions
including the revenue growth
rate. We considered the
appropriateness of the discount
rates adopted by management;
and

Involving an auditor’s expert
to assist us to evaluate
the appropriateness of the
management valuer’s valuation
approach, assessing the accuracy
and relevance of key data inputs
underpinning the valuation and
assessing the reasonableness
of the key assumptions applied
based on available market data
and checking the comparable
adopted by the management
expert and our knowledge of the
business and industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and

mining rights (continued)

The Group is required to perform
impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining
rights whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may
not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in
Note 3. The recoverable amounts
of the Group’s cash generating unit
(“CGUs") was determined based on
the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to disposal and its value-
in-use using discounted cash flow
projection. We focused on this area
because the amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights were significant and
the impairment assessment process
involved significant management’s
judgements and estimates including
the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate and future revenue
in the cash flow projection. The Group
engaged an external valuer to assist
the assessment for the recoverable
amount of the CGUs.

Considering the adequacy
of disclosure of impairment
assessments of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and
mining rights set out note 18
to the consolidated financial
statements.

We found that the management
judgement and assumptions were
supportable by the available evidence.

R R EEERARAR]
2024 PEFEHRE o1



BYZBERE (&)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

HipE

BERAREFEHEAMBENBR - HMERE
EHERNFRANZIER  ETRERE
g mER B MR RE

BAEGEEMBRRNERL NREEME
B BT HEMERERTAEANE

L7 g 1A
B AEE o

AEAHEEMBRENERZME - T
AEEHEBEMEN AEMHBEFERHE
EMEL BEEMBRERIRMNEFTZE
BRAMTHENBAFEEAREREUTF
EEANBERBANER - EREADHITH
T BERMABR/EMERFTEEARNHERR
o BPAREZFE-EETE - HR
BIEA#®E -

EERAEERGRSUBRR
AREZER

BERAEFEARBEAGHMAERMZ
BEWBREENRBFERFEOHNRER
EREBEELEEM AT RROGEME®RE
LREBERAR/REGAMBBREALENNR
BRYR I - DA AR & B FS ¥R T T AE B N ARGRF
IR M EH 2 BAFERRA -

EREUREMBREEG EAREEEE
Al BERERBERLEZEN  YHEERB
MTRERRELLEERIFH URER
FEREREGHER KB EQRESFA
B BEEEFHEIFELELE  NHEHA
ERMBERTER -

AEEAARERE SEBEZMBEHRERERE -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

54 Annual Report 2024

REMBEBERGS M B RR AR
BeEF®

REREEARBNERT  RMAEETHAY
B BRERNECEREZNEER
MEKEREREZER - RATRBEABSH
Wl ZEEE  RIDERIER T A AR
REZESEE HEBKFENERT -
AREEMAERMOBRET BB ERENKK
BHERBHEENARNE - AIRFORE
TRERSTEEZFHE-

HEARBIZBMBENETREEBAR

EETMERRARAR
B E BT AT

HEEFEZHEIT - P07806

B —ET-RAF=A-+NH

B2 B ()
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

R R EEERARAR]
2024 PEFEHRE 99



REeBEREMEEB AR ()

%éﬁ é & Eﬂbéﬁ L& Aé% CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME T e Looeroot T

il oy

HE_Z_WF+ = A =+—HL-FZ For the year ended 31 December 2024 /;;\\\

—E-mEF —=E_-= —E-NE —E-=f
2024 2023 2024 2023
B 2 FHxT FExT FHET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 6 242,700 263,491 FEXEXHAE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES
8 AR Cost of sales (294,076) (348,772) FOR THE YEAR (457,471) (497,677)
8 o B Gross loss (51,376) (85,281) THATEIEFEEE : Loss for the year attributable to:
HipWzm sk B8 - #58 Other gains or losses, net 6 7,170 (5,968) KNAFHER A Owners of the Company (408,419) (423.,600)
SHE KD T Selling and distribution expenses (2,265) (2,301)
TR H Administrative expenses (57,523) (83,658) .
- . : : NP N g T
ERWER HekEM Net allowance for expected credit losses 1,781 3,992 TEIA - Fgﬁﬁﬁg NEE otal comprehgnswe expe?nses for
Bl R IEBHEEE B EE on trade receivables, deposits and B - the year attributable to:
e TR . - Gep RATEER A Owners of the Company (457,471) (497,677)
7 EE other receivables
ME - BELRREBEERZ Impairment loss recognised on property, 18 (233,842) (188,941) i
BIERE plant and equipment BRERE: Loss per share: \
TE AL ERRNMERE  Impairment loss recognised on right-of- 18 (7,419) (5,876) - ERREE - basic and diluted (68.92)78 1l (79.43)7 1L
use assets HK$(68.92) cent HK$(79.43) cent
TEEEERRANREEIE Impairment loss recognised on 18 (2,095) (2,443)
intangible assets BER 2 M3t BANER G B ISR 2 AP EB 7 © The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
R TEREERANRESE Impairment loss recognised on mining 18 (8,756) (6,642) financial statements.
right
MsER Finance costs 8 (54,884) (48,793)
BATEE LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (409,209) (425,911)
FrisfiE s Income tax credit 11 790 2,311
FEEIE Loss for the year (408,419) (423,600)
Ht2EXH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE
1’ BRI E R 7 A E 1B i Other comprehensive expense to
A2 EZ M - be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
BREGINEG 2 EREZRE Exchange differences on translation of (49,052) (74,077)
foreign operations
FEHMEE HHBAER  Other comprehensive expense for the (49,052) (74,077)

year, net of income tax
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BEZT-MF+=H=+—H L% For the year ended 31 December 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
BE_T_PF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 202 ~——~

<% \

—E-mEF —=E_-= —E-NE —E-=f
2024 2023 2024 2023
FHxT FExT FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
ME - B MERE Property, plant and equipment 687,793 1,020,495 PR A Deferred revenue 64,624 66,881
FREEE Right-of-use assets 21,822 31,738 B Borrowings 243,379 223,620
mILEE Intangible assets 6,162 13,196 Al B0 (E 5 Convertible bonds 363,526 347,170
RE Mining rights 25,755 35,871 RIEFIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 6,077 7,148
FERBEEBLTE Total non-current assets 741,532 1,101,300 ERBBERTE Total non-current liabilities 677,606 644,819
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS BEEFE NET ASSETS 155,490 612,961
EE Inventories 90,514 103,387
FEUNE 5 R K N E R Trade and bills receivables 275 3,205 s EQUITY
FERFOE e N EMEIWFIE Prepayments, deposits and other
SIS S PG TS T IR AR pay » aep AATEBEAELERS Equity attributable to owners of
receivables 168,130 185,724 the Company
ov Q4 0\ = = B B
FE WA R R R B RUE An;\otljg‘t due from an intermediate Sou BB 1T Re A |ssued capital 5,926 5.926
olding company - ' EE Reserves 149,564 607,035
RekReFEEER Cash and cash equivalents 24,716 39,954 '
s XA TOTAL EQUITY 155,490 612,961
MEBEEBEE Total current assets 283,635 341,231
RESWEBI1TLE SAMBRERN = The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 174 were approved
RBAR . CURRENT LIABILITIES —HEZA-+ ) \HEKEEEBHNIEET and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 28 March 2025
J%’{#ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ Trade payab[es 19,418 ]5,472 Eﬂ ) j’leHTﬁ”%%’f‘E%%% . and are Signed on its behalf by
Hab et B R BT & A Other payables and accruals 31,911 25,752
EHBE Contract liabilities 23,169 26,477
& Borrowings 108,833 111,228
JE B SR Tax payable 63 -
FERTEBIER A AR Amount due to an immediate holding
company 8,677 5,822
ot 5 & bR e
mBEEEE Total current liabilities 192,071 184,751 Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
£F ¥
REBEEFRE NET CURRENT ASSETS 91,564 156,480 Director Director
s . [/=RPAN & 48 Bl 2[4 o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
EEAERADES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B 2 P B R AR & B 5 TR 2 AR AR 0 9) e accompanying grat p
financial statements.
LIABILITIES 1,257,780
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(2T ZMF+=A="+—HI1EFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BERfT L)
R& HER AARR
Share

Issued premium  Contributed
capital account surplus

EARE
fitfe

(M (i)
Capital
redemption
reserve
(note (ii))

G
fitte

Convertible
bonds equity
reserve

BBRE
fitfe

Share option
reserve

EERE
(3G

Statutory
reserve
(note (iii))

afEeE
G

Merger
reserve
(note (iv)

At
i

Other
reserve

1]
Exchange

fluctuation
reserve

RERA

Retained
earnings

WZEZ=F—-F—8 Asat 1 January 2023 3950 1,591,606 677,123 419 35,651 30,646 120188 (1,500592) (44,209) (181,524) 362,694 1,095,952
FEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - - (he00)  (623600)
FEEMZESTE  Other comprehensive
NBRAEH expense for the year, net
of income tax:
BEBNERR Exchange differences
EEZERER arising from translations
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (74,077) - (74,077)
FE2AETEE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - - - - - (76,017)  (423400)  (497477)
BB - Issue of rights shares,
BT HRE net of transaction cost 1976 12710 - - - - - - - - - 14,686
BAMBRE Share option lapsed - - - - - (30,646) - - - - 30,446 -
ERERE Transfer to reserves - - - - - - 57 - - (57) -

RZEZZFF=F  Asat31 December 2023
Z+-ARZ2ZM  and 1 January 2024
£-5-A

FEEE Loss for the year
FEEMZETE  Other comprehensive
NBRAES expense for the year, net
of income tax:
BERNER Exchange differences
FEEZERZSE  arising from translations
of foreign operations
EE2EFREE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year
EREREE Transfer to reserve

IRBIEEIAEHRES  Early redemption on
Convertible Bonds

WZZ2ZMETZH  Asat31 December 2024
=t-A

(1,244)

(49,052)

(49,052)

(408,419)

(408,419)

(119)

1,264

(437,611)
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

REREEBR(H)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ERHRERLEEAWBRAERNEEHER
149,564,000% 7T (=% = = 4F : 607,035,000/ 7T) ©

AABORFEEAQARBEREHBRDERA
ARREBAHFENADRRMOEE -

EERBEEEENB AR RS EARKAME (T4
B EEMBWREMIATMNOBRBETRE
HETBDRENES -

BRI BRI 2B R R 2 AHEI24 R KA
ZPRBUERIFOEMR - R E B A B AR H10%.2 10
B PR S H AR 06 A (G BB R E I R iR 8 A
E)EREERE  BIZRBERCENBAR
A EAS0% - ZREMETANYHMB AT BE
FREZEER  BWRHE QR 2 EE X K
BRBZA

RETEERZEEEEEETRRB/ L EMARM
EERBERMOE TR AEEFERRELD
ROZORERERBEIPREEES -ZFES
AHARGER IR ELAT2EE  T50
PRER DK

EHRFEERRAHIHAREFN I BEEBRAAHE
FOARREL -

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(2= -F+=A=+—H1EF For the year ended 31 December 2024

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$149,564,000
(2023: HK$607,035,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
Company which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon
repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries
based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
statutory financial statements and that for the purpose of certain safety
production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are
required to set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the
PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except where the
reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital.
The reserve fund can only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous
years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work
Safety of the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required
to set aside funds mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or improvements of
safety of these activities, and is not available for distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in
relation to the combination with entity under common control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BEZT-MF+=H=+—H L% For the year ended 31 December 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
BE_T_PF+-A=1—HILF For the year ended 31 December 202 ~——~

£Z \

—ECNE —EB-=F —E_ME —EB-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023
FHExT FHET FExT FTHExT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
REEKCEHESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING CEEBFB RS Cash generated from operations 30,439
ACTIVITIES ERFTEHIA Income taxes refund 5,344
BRI E 1R Loss before tax (409,209) (425,911)
FEE Adjustments for: B IR R AR Net cash flows generated from
B 7 2 B Finance costs 54,884 48,793 operating activities 35,783
IRATIE [l M) 82 (E 5 2 518 Loss on early redemption on '
convertible bonds 3,259 - S
8947 F B A Bank interest income (701) (593) REXBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
HEWE - WFEREH2UWE  Gain on disposal of property, ACTIVITIES
- 2 A Interest received 701 593
plant and equipment (4,759) (3,454) W | s R A )
M2 - BB KR Written-off of property, plant and /2 ; eI Proceeds from disposal of property,
equipment 819 573 E Fﬁ'fﬁ‘?\r%l,\ i o plant and equipment 6,737 4,925
E  BELREERZE  Impairment loss recognised on BAYX - BB &R PU;;E?;;ZE: property, plant and o (26.060)
= ’ '
§¢E§gig§§ﬁag {1 Ing?friretrﬁ fézztrzzggi?:ézn;im 233,842 188,941 BHEPIRITER 2R D Decrease in pledged bank deposits - 9,698
right-of-use assets 7,419 5,876
MEEEERRCRERBIE Impairment loss recognised on BREFXH RS REFR Net cash flows used in investing
intangible assets 2,095 2,443 activities (22,128) (12,853)
REERRZREEE Impairment loss recognised on
mining rights 8,756 6,642 MEXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
mE - -WERERBLITE Depreciation of property, plant and ACTIVITIES
equipment 77,780 99,625 2ATHE Interest paid (8,474)
EREEEZIE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,309 1,336 BT ARRTS A Proceed from issuance of share capital 14,686
| EEC#HE Amortisation of intangible assets WAL 4,503 B Repayment of borrowings (901)
PR HE 2 B 55 Amortisation of mining rights = 2,416 IRETE R AT EmES 2 3 Payment for early redemption of
FEWE SR NTEHREEEIE Reversal of allowance for expected convertible bonds -
B E R credit loss on trade receivables (1,713) (3,948) AR A RIKEHEIRE Advance to/(repayment from) current
e hHMEWRIE Z EHE Reversal of allowance for expected B8 (BR) accounts with holding companies (6,010)
EBBERERRD credit loss on deposits and other
receivables (68) (44) MEXEBK 2R ML FE Net cash flows used in financing
activities (7,905) (699)
LEESEIHR KL Operating cash flows before changes in
Renk working capital (21,872) (72.802) ReRASZEEER > NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
BERD . Decrease in inventories . 9,694 83526 RV -Fii)::2 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (18,895) 22,231
EUE SRR N EWEIER L Decrease in trade and bill receivables 4,628 2,156 EYTE4RELZMER Cash and cash equival -
" - Z . . & & EEE quivalents at beginning
}Ei\ﬁﬂl/g(\j;jzjﬁgﬁﬁ’r@ﬁgqﬁrﬁ\lﬁ Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, of year 39 954 28,599
(3N deposits and other receivables 11,769 (1,994) N T 2 T SR AR L - : '
ERE SEZEIN Chd) Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 4,616 (1,380) SIREXREAR  #E Effcehc;nof:srﬁggtn exchange rate 3.657 (10.876)
HabfEAFOE - JEEFE R &A 4 Increase in other payables, accruals ges. ! '
< 4 L ey
S end contract fiabilities S 20,533 FR2ASRRAEZEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 24,716 39,954
ReRESZEEEBASRSHT  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
e RIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 39,954
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture and
sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the ultimate holding
company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

1.
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LARAREBER (&) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
AKRABZEBWNBERARZFBHOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
L/
Bl i
GEms BETEER/ ARAELERRE FOREE
Place of HRARE AN igt]
incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity Proportion
&% registration of issued ordinary attributable to ofvating FEFH
Name and business share/registered capital the Company power held  Principal activities
Bk k3
Direct Indirect
HERAEHRERAA(HERA) +E ARH171,800,0007 - 100 100% HERHESEENEBER
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products ~ The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading of
Company Limited (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”) magnesium related products
BT AR EBERXARAT T AR 280,332,000 - 100 100% RERHETEENBEER
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources  The PRC RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and trading of
Company Limited magnesium related products
HEREHM AN RARAT k! AR 1,000,000 - 100 100% RERHECEEMBEER
Xinjiang Rare Magnesium New Material The PRC RMB1,000,000 Manufacturing and trading of
Technology Co. Ltd magnesium related products
PEBEHRERERAF R 103107 7T - 100 100% RERK
China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology ~ Hong Kong HK$10310 Investment holdings
Holdings Limited
BRMMHEEREBRAT &R BT - 100 100% REER
Hong Kong New Materials Industry Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holdings

Investments Limited

ERFINESRAHAKEZAFE
FEABEARERHERAEBEEF
BEzXIBHNDZARBKBEAR &
ERR RHEEMBHBERAR ZFIEH
BHERBRITEK -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)"”)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1
January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”); and Amendments
to HKAS 1 -Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and Lack of Exchangeability'
HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification and

HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
Accounting Standards - Volume 11 HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

HKFRS 7 Electricity?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
“ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as describe
below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements and will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial statements
and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share”
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted.

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material
impact on the financial position of the Group but is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
statement of cash flows and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group will continue to assess the impact of HKFRS
18 on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, at the end of each reporting period. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions,
appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to
ensure conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below]);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non- controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’'s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
initially measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a b-step approach
to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excluded amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium products
is recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to the customer and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value added
taxes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-
of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs and are included in “administrative expenses”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not to
separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease
and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to
some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group is a
lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessor (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Lease modification

For operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1
January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains or losses, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest
is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

The employee of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contribution
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. Remeasurements comprising actuarial
gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable)
and the return on plan assets (excluding interest) are recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss when the plan
amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the Group recognises
related restructuring costs or termination benefits, if earlier. Gains
or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised
when the settlement occurs. Net interest is calculated by applying
a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as service costs, which
includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and
losses on curtailments and settlements.

The Group recognises service costs within profit or loss as cost of
sales and administrative expenses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits (continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the deficit or surplus in
the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this
calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in
future contributions to the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short term and other long term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

R R EEERARAR]
2024 PEFEHRE 83



B 7% SR R Y & (48D
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_Z-_W&+=-H=1+—HIF% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

84

BERGHKRER &)
BB

Fr 15 Fi X2 38 &
THABRE o

= AR R R ROE RE TR

EATENRIE I FARERT S A
B-ERNGANNTEREREEME
R ERRBAXATHRFAXRR
IR B4 B]4F S 7R 3 1 AT (R AR TR AR
ZHEB HESGBEaEMEZEK
AKFHE F A E o R & H R IR
BEDERBEHREBMIAR L
ERMHRHERETH -

BELERBENRERMERRANEER A
EREESRRRGERRBENZHE
EREMECERZRER - ETH
HEERATERMBRRAREREZR
R - ECHBEEBTENARELY
3B RR B s A 1K 55 8 B R) 2 A A) H00R
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁTmﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
ReoMERERABENEAR —HEL
TEEBERRBEN T A ESEF
ERRZEWHMELFEHARRT N
AR R ZH 2 X 5 (EB A FHER M)
R ERAEMBEERAEMS B
AT gERAREEERAE -

BERBEREREARMBELARKESR
ACRAVERZHER  EHAE
BREZFHEREZRADATREZERN
A RRRA G B RERGR

EEHREBEEEZREAEENEHREH
R ERE  AETKRAEBERH
J& ER 0% M U [l 2 BB =X B o0 B E B R

/J\

3.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
including cost of testing whether the related assets are functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible Assets (continued)
Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination (continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised using
the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of 9 to 16
years, from the date when the patent is available for use.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and evaluation
assets, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. The mining rights are amortised on the
production quantities over the total estimated mineral reserve.
Mining rights are written off to the profit or loss if the mining
property is abandoned.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make sale.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and bank
balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits)
and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets subsequently measured at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest model and are subject to impairment.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus
the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation
using the effective interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for
any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(D

Amortised cost and effective interest method

(continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit- impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “other gains or losses, net”.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL, specifically.

Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The
Group has not designated any debt instruments as at
FVTPL.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses, net’ (please specify) line item.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair value
of a financial asset has been less the then its amortised
cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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EAXSTTHERER (@) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
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Financial instruments (continued) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

£ R FESRETRETME) (2) assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) #£ R FSRETREFE) (&) assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i) EERREZEEMNE) (i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (i) SERREZEEME) (i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) the debt instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing
means that the counterparty has a strong financial position
and there is no past due amounts.
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The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default,
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial assets’
original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred
are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit
or loss at the date of modification.

R R BT IRA R AR
2024 FAFHE 101



B %5 3 2= Bt & (48D
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_Z-_W&+=-H=1+—HIF% Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

102

BEARSTBERER #)
€T A &)
StHAaBERER

TEAEBEIES

EELREETANREBEANLHENE
BATALRe@MABEES TANE
ENVERTRBERIRA -

EZTH

B TADERAEERNRMBRERE
BONEETHRAERSRERNTMEH -
ARARETHOEZ T RRMAEHRIAEH
B R EITRAHER

BOARRBEGMES TARNESE
RIEHNGF - BE - HE - BITHE
HARBESMEZTARBTENE
AR B E

TRMEE
2HeRMBERERBHKNAERE
BRA RS AR B ABRE

TREEEBRITT AR EBABKMTL
BRARB2EZEZRELANSRAE
URAEBEELNPBERELN 5
HRTIXIHABETBRRTE -

3.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing
involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group, are measured in accordance with the specific
accounting policies set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it
is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains
or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the ‘other gains and losses, net’ line item in profit or
loss.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in
the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

BERAETBERER &)
€T A (%)
SREERERE)

ERMEaE#E)
RIEBASEMEE

FHEEAEEMNETRER  BUR
KB ARERIEASRAE -
ERIERNEREENERERD
N REMNREZ FHZRN R R PR -

TRABENEXR

HREcMABRESIDKANEHL
HER(ERetFRRAEENI B
ME) B BERESHABERERH
TRAE - AEERE  MBEREHIE
FESREMNMRAE  2ENKRE
WE R IZRERF EBEH TR E A
BIEHENER HESHREER
BRSTENMUBREEEED10%
BlER KT HER - Bt - BEEEK T
B ZBRIIEROERARRBER -
FrEEMERRKASERBERESRKR

Baa—a#m o

AR AE B 2= BRI 1 0% 1 AR /5 9F
EEMEMW -

TRAEENFEEMBEX

M EHEIIERNERAENIEE
gt HEBEENKREES
EREEHNANATRERTRA
BEHRERMEBRERNRESE -
BENRZAASERAHEERNE
MEBEEMNRAEETHAR LEFK
FRAEHE HEMBEEREENT
] BERNEN B RS ER

B % R M aE (AR
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BEZZT WM&+ -A=1—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.

The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of
the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible note

The component parts of the convertible note are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included
in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity
will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs relating to the issuance of the convertible note
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction cost relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

BERAETBERER &)
ST HEH#ZE)
SREERERE)

DREFE

HFERRER (NREE UKD SRR
ZHRRS HERS FEAZRF
EAEME BELRE EARE
E REEMMEIVEENEREEBR
5N  REBEEBZEMIHSEBER
EAHEESRBEERMEECE
ELREFR-

HFERMEEAAENAERZENS
SREAREAZEERINGES R
REMRA IHZEEETH AR
1§ﬁﬁuz§F/EEJFﬁ&E’ﬁ:)&ﬁﬁmm
B2 EETELWE M

KEI%%L% ST EBERBEEBR
%ﬁuh#g RENBER L
EFRBEIBERE ARENE
gﬂ@ﬁ%TTﬁ%%A%ﬁ £EE
ME AERERBEHAZBBOEH
BARBEAESIBER/AT=AFH :

F—M— HREEXEERNEEDS
MG ME CRERAE) -

F_M— BRIAEFEMSBELRN
ERSAHEERREESR
ABEBNEETE -

F=ZM— HRIAEFEMSBELRN
AAERERKEE R ABED
EETE »

RBEHR AEEEEENRAA
EfENEERBENHBAA B
B RRFUEEEBERFTEERA
BEHNAAEEANERZAEELE
R

Bt % SRR MY & (AR
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BEZZT WM&+ -A=1—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value in use of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets for the
purpose of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining rights and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (continuea)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs to disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (continuea)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non- market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

or
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

(2)  The party is an entity where any of the following condition
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1);

(vii) a person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the director of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment,
Right-of-use assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining right with
finite useful lives have suffered any impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts of the Group’s CGUs represent the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal or its value-in-
use. The calculations of fair value less costs to disposal or
value-in-use require the use of estimates and assumptions.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the future revenue in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and mining rights subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000),
HK$21,822,000 (2023: HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023:
HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000 (2023: HK$35,871,000)
respectively after taking into account the impairment losses
of approximately HK$233,842,000 (2023: HK$188,941,000),
HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000 (2023:
HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000)
in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights that have been
recognized respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment,
Right-of-use assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights
(continued)

Details of the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights are disclosed in note 18.

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property,
Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation/amortisation charges for its
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and mining rights. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of similar nature and functions and the mineral
reserve determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market conditions.
Management will increase the depreciation/amortisation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or write- down technically obsolete
or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group did not change the estimated useful lives of right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and mining rights.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continuea)

(c) Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in
notes 20 and 39 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEZZT WM&+ -A=1—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. The Group is principally engaged in one
single segment, which is manufacturing and selling magnesium
related products during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. A single management team reports to the chief operating
decision makers who comprehensively manages such entire
business segment. Accordingly, the Group does not have separately
reportable segments.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

R E R (BB

—E-mE —E-=F
2024 2023
FHET T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

Mainland China (other than Hong Kong) m 263,491

B ABRIREFPHEBZT) -

(b) HRBEE

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

FEAH (BB

—ES-ME —ET_=
2024 2023
FHET FABTT

HK$’000 HK$'000

Maintand China (other than Hong Kong) [ AL Pl 1,101,300

AR EEERIREEME
27 e

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of the assets.
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BE-T-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024 2N
£

5. XB2EER ) 5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) Bi A& 18 7. LOSS BEFORE TAX
FTEEFEHR Information about major customers AEBZBHABEENRGEA) T The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
7| & I8
REAFERE-—FEPZHEMLAS Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group's :
10%3 A E 2 W AT revenue during the year is as bellows:
“E-NEF —TE-=F
2024 2023
—EBE-NEF —E_=F F i T Sk —
7T FHT
2024 2028 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HEFE KA Cost of inventories sold* 223,038 268,052
M - WEREEITES Depreciation of property, plant and
ZPA Customer A m 444,732 equipment** 77,780 99 625
&8 Customer B 43738 W - WE &R EM e Written-off of property, plant and
equipment* 819 573
B EXTEZEEN BEEMERRY Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,309 1.336
NEBEFANBIWAER10% A £ o more to the Group’s total revenue for the year. LEE - BEMEEZ Gain on disposal of property, plant and
Wz equipment (3,454)
6. WMARKEAKZEHAE F 6. REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET Do RE R Impairment loss recognised on property,
’ HEEE plant and equipment 233,842 188,941
# FREEERRZRERE Impairment loss recognised on right-of-
S¢ ot p . : 7,419 5,876
WA RE MU ok EE - FEDN An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as follows: . use assets ’ '
mF - / ’ B EERR ZMERE Impairment loss recognised on intangible
assets 2,095 2,443
PR e 5 Amortisation of mining rights* - 2,416
—E-_mEF —E-= HEERRZREEE Impairment loss recognised on mining
2024 2023 right 6,642
F# T FET A Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,503
HK$’000 HK$'000 % AN B &+ Auditors’ remuneration* 800
N ~ ] EERAMX Employee benefit expense
RE-RBEBXBARBEFSE Revenue from contract with customer (BEEEGH) (including directors’ remuneration)

”27;”5‘* _ recognised at a point in time ITE H$eREWEN Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 41,526 40,799
HESESBAEBRE D Sale of magnesium related products 242,700 263,491 SRR B 2 Pension scheme contributions 837 791
Hi =B FHE Other gains or losses, net 42,363 41590
H|ITH B WA Bank interest income 701 593
HERER Sales of scrap materials 442 621 _

o _ _ _ s aE L T AE . .
BB EE Loss on disposal of idled raw materials (1,506) (13.701) M 5, 2= R iﬁ,\ Foreign exchange differences, net . 4,678 2,786
BEY . EERRE  Mas Gain on disposal of property, plant and FE Y& 5 IR 578 BR Reversal of allowance for expected credit
equipment ' 4.759 3454 FEEEBRERD loss on trade receivables (1,713) (3,948)
FEWA Rental income 5'441 5'582 H b e W IE 2 FE A Reversal of allowance for expected credit
—&Z == S - 4= . . . ' %_é =15 1
RATER AT ERES 2 EE Loss on early redemption on convertible EREBRERE loss on other receivables (68) (44)
ponds Bl . AAGEERREMEERARZ [HEK
# ARG EERE §H & AX # Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
Afto Others 592 (2.517) | other comprehensive income
7170 (5.968) * AASEERREMEMBARZ [1THX * Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
: ' ] or loss and other comprehensive income

RAEBAGHFER—FHAT M
EEMBREENFHENERREER
Frafrl Y EBBEDERERBTAEN
MR 5 (B
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All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted by
practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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8. BIKEH

8. FINANCE COSTS

HE_ZT-_WNF+-A=1+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

51 7% % 2% B o (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ Emoluments

—E-@mE —E-=
2024 2023 R E B A5 F F383(1) 15 Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
Tt Fisr A (K ER B F Flla Bk ROIS of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
_ . 2HBBENEEFHOT Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
HK$’000 HK$'000 Directors) Regulation are as follows:
$R75 T L 2 2R . : e o
fET:{&:\SfE ig N Intere.st on bank and other borrowmg§ 3,563 BzE—T-—m&E+-—A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2024
BERAGTEI TEZTNERTE Effective interest expenses on borrowings HEE
(E3 under the Creditors’ Scheme 18,108
BERAGTEITAERESNE Effective interest expenses on convertible
BRA B X bonds under the Creditor’s Scheme 27,122 unEs BIFHTES
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
48793 it wH%E  BRX RER  MEH?  ARRY 29
' Shum Kwong Ping Cheung ] Shen Sheng

Sai Chit Chi Sile Man®™  Sound Poon Pengxuan ® Yimin® Hong® Total
TER TET TET TET TER TET TER TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HEEALEAES Emoluments paid or receivable in
REBBECHARE  respect of a person’s services as a
W& T®IAE  director, whether of the Company
WADFAREME  and its subsidiary undertakings

DA
we Fees
£ Others

RESHERADE  Emoluments paid or receivable in
REMBAREHE  respect of director's other services
FERHEMEME  in connection with the management
BEAREREM  of the affairs of the Company and

its subsidiary undertakings
HinEm Other emoluments
e Salaries
EREL Fixed amount bonus

2HEREWFE Allowances and benefits in kind

He - EURA Salaries, allowances and benefits

a/E subtotal

EilEpigan Discretionary bonus

EIRER /R Contributions to retirement
SHERK benefits/pension schemes

E Ve Performance related incentive

payments
AR A ETH Share-based payment
MR

Efh Others

fEARAI MAK Amounts paid or receivable as
MAKEER an inducement to join or upon
MEBmEH joining the Group
HEW I

Fiee Total emoluments

BRI EREERAR AT 121
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BHE-T-ME+-A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-MF+-A=+—HLL%[E Forthe year ended 31 December 2024~
\»,) )
9. EEME (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEMEw) 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) EZHM (2 (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued) (a) EEHM =) (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)
BE-ZE-_=%+-A=+—-H For the year ended 31 December 2023 O REFSRFAASTAREL " Retired on 28 June 2024
LFE @ RZZZWOFRAZ+=HEHE @ Resigned on 23 September 2024
® R-ZZ-_MF+—_A=-+HEZF ® Appointed on 20 December 2024
BIES BUFHTES @ RZZEZWFNATAREE @ Appointed on 16 September 2024
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors ]
St Sy BRI ELK gL At HE-_ZE_NMFEFRER_ZTE =% During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
Shui Kwong Ping Cheung i +ZA=+—HLEFE A58 emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
Sai Chit Chi Sile Man®  SoundPoon  Pengxuan®? Total BERASEANESIFEM the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group,
THT THT THL FHT TaT THT B - DA (R E pn A A& B 3k in or as compensation for loss of office.
HKSO0D  HKO0D  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO0O  HK§O00 AAREE - o e B
FEBALMERES Emoluments paid or receivable in ) o
BERBESHUE  respect of a person’s services RAEFEAN  WEESFFLEM There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
WEM - F#WEF  as a director, whether of the WEXREREEANE 2 LB agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: nil).
RADFAHEKE  Company and its subsidiary (—E-—=%#: &)
ARER undertakings
ik Fees - - 30 30 30 90 =
Hiy Others B B ) ) ) ) 10. RS HMA L 10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
rEBFAFWHESNAZEERRE The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
- - 0 30 0 0 MEBE(ZEZ=ZF MB)EF EF included two (2023: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
SESESEALT Enal ’ bl BEF BN E X9 - Fep =% (= are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the
’ pEET LA Hmo uments paid or rec’elvabe Z_=F =) FMWEsEE (WF year of the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid employees
REMBATES  inrespect of director’s other - . . . .
SEELMEME  services in connection with the ARATREZFTHEEZTHAE) NFRH who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
BEMREREFMH  management of the affairs of B BT as follows:
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings -
LRk Other emoluments —E-mE —E=-=
g4 Salaries 600 600 - - - 1,200 2024 2023
EREA Fixed amount bonus - - - - - - 385t Tyt
EERENNE Allif_wsnces and benefits in HK$'000 HK$'000
in - - - - - -
e RMEEYA R Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,282
4 BERF  Salaries, allowances and RIRETEIH Pension scheme contributions 36
oty benefits subtotal 600 600 - - - 1,200
MBI Discretionary bonus - - _ a B ] .
BINER/RIR Contributions to retirement '
SRR benefits/pension schemes - 18 - - - 18
& incenti =
ARERRS Performantce related incentive FMAFUTHENTFHNESEES The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
MR B gxrrnee-gassed payment (13F$ AIEE) ABIMT : directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
g&m%ﬁ\ - - _ _ _ - following bands is as follows:
Bt Others - - - - - -
fEAMAIMARK  Amounts paid or receivable —
MAKEE% as an inducement to join or —E-F —TE-=F
NEBMER upon joining the Group 2024 2023
KW IR - - - - - - FTEx FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
600 618 - - - 1218 e —
251,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 3] 3
Ghes Total emoluments 600 618 30 30 30 1,308
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR EBIERER AR
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1. FIHER &)

The amount of income tax credit charged/(credited) to the Q) EBFNEBH

1. FTBHER 11. INCOME TAX CREDIT
NEA BB R EMEERAENTER

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continuea)
(a) Hong Kong Profits Tax

(Rt A) B PR 1S T 18 S BRS¢

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents:

R-ZE—NF=/A-_+—H &
BIFEBEBR T LEBE
B EZR (B3] (F798) ([ZE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The

—E-MmE —ECo=4F =])  ZERSAFGEMMRS Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazette
2024 2023 ZERR-ZZE-NF=ZA=Z+AN on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rate
FET FAT AEEXEE TRBATFIE- regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
HK$'000 HK$'000 BEFNSHMAH  2EKEE group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits tax above
B0 AR I Current tax: E%%E’J%zﬁ%;‘%fzﬁwﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&25% HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
’ Y o ' , B mBkE2E 8B THFER entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates

. _EE,JL%E)/TT%%R - PRC Enterpmses Income Tax - BIZBEIZ16 5% T - TR A FISH regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

ﬁﬁ%}l‘,lﬁ ( MTJLEE29) Deferred taxation (Note 29] (2,31 1] Fﬁni& %'J El"] % E ﬁ% %'J e ﬂé}ﬁ%fbﬁ }E
16.5%H [&] 7E Bt R A
(2,311)

BRARBRABRELARRATREKRS
BB ARMERR RIEAEEEE
MEFEZRBEHEABERB X
BZBRBEXHEER  UREAKE (B
EERER) BERRER ZHERNT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the
applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax
rates, are as follows:

AEBEERBEHWESFIE
MMEBRTEERSL RN S EREE
AU BHEMSBTER - BB
F1S A W EF E N IR M ETE
REEF Z165%1E - HNER
BUWEEEABERAB T - WEZE
—E-NE+-_A=+—BItF
EHAIMNEMRKEE (ZE==
FE) o

The directors of the Group considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profit tax rates require
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statement. Hong
Kong Profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No tax is payable for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil) since there was no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

ZEZNF —T-=F
2024 2023 (b) FELTEREBHR (b) PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Hl:(i;l'ﬁgg H:PZ’%OSB FECEMSHRIEBEE_-ZF The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on the
—HFERZE-Z=F+=A estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for the years
HArEE Loss before tax (409,209) (425,911) =+ —HALEFERTRZMHEE ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
AR BUE M 2 25%=T H e
BEEMEGE 2 HIE Tax at the statutory tax rates (89,952) (87,294)
BAEMT 2 WA Income not subject to tax (173) (163) 12. K E 12. DIVIDEND
Rk s Expenses not deductible for tax 17,244 36,871
X DR, : elrEZnEz_2= - i
KRR RIAER Tax losses not recognised 72,091 48.275 %?ETE% Tyt_i = EE& Thg board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
T =F+ A=+ —BHLEFEERN dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
DN EMARE -
BRASEEBRMEHE BB Tax credited at the Group’s effective rate
Eved) (790) (2,311)
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13.

126

ARAEEAEGEBRER

SHEARAREARAREERERNL#
SBEETIREIATEUE

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

AHEERERREEEIRRD
MARRRHEAABEFAE

Loss for the year attributable to owners
of the Company for the purpose of basic
8 and diluted loss per share

—E_UEF —F-=
2024 2023
TERT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000

(408,419) (423,600)

AEERERREEEIRRA
Copik: SRSl e =)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share

BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

533,312,399

FRADETNMEFHEBEREE &
592,595,103/% (==& = =4 : 533,312,399
B%) - B VE 78R DA I R B AES0FT H BR
RIEITHIR R R E -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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The weighted average number of ordinary shares of 592,595,103
(2023: 533,312,399) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect
the effect of the issuance of rights shares as disclosed in note 30.

13.

ARRAEBAELEREE
(#)

RBEREMS  AQRBEERITE
BREMMREEESELETHE
NEEAEAARE(ARQAHREG
FHMEET) BANKRNOEE - AR
AT LT ENRDEE A
BERTEEREMBITAORMNEE #
THEER o

HRERECEESREE_S ==
F+-_A=Z+—HLEFENEHTF
HHE HAEEREEFSERTE
BETEERARANERE-BE_F
“THEF+_A=+—BLEEFE FE
EAREEBEBAERANS T HE X
n%é %*EH °

BHE-Z-_NER-ZFE-_=F5+=A
=T —BLEFE FESREERAN
BRI EBRREDEBRAQFERES
REABESEBREESHTREEARD -

B % R M aE (AR
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BEZZT WM&+ -A=1—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE COMPANY (continuea)

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise price
of those share options was higher than the average market price
of shares for the year ended 31 December 2023. The denominators
used are the same as these detailed above for both basic and
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the computation
of diluted earning per share does not assume the conversion of the
Company’s convertible bonds since their assumed exercise would
result in an decrease in loss per share.
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4. ¥ - BERRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Ha-
BELH EEL BER
kETF ERIR B B ot
Leasehold Furniture,
landand  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings in progress equipment machinery vehicles Total
TR TR TR TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R Cost:
R-E-=F-F-H As at 1 January 2023 1,023,038 27,255 6,457 1,050,986 3139 2110875
HE Addition - 20,899 - 5,662 1,508 28,069
e Disposal (428) - 9) (3,792 (1,762 (5,991)
fi i Written-off - - (153) (4,344) (118) (4,615)
X E5] Fxchange realignment (36.461) (1,840) (227) (37421) (105) (76,054)
T__¢‘|' A=+—HA% Asat3! December 2023 and
“F-NF-F-H 1 January 2024 986,149 46314 6,068 1,011,001 2662 2,052,284
HE Addition 97 26,722 82 2177 488 29566
i Transfer - (9570) - 9570 - -
e Disposal - - - (11088) (1,163) (12251)
ik Written-off - - - (1918) (132) (2,050)
& 5 55 Exchange realignment (33275) (799) (201) (34,168) (53) (68.494)
RZE-MEF+-FA=+—H  Asat 3 December 2024 952,971 42,687 5,949 975,466 1,802 1,999,055
ZAMEREE: Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
R-E-=F-f—H As at 1 January 2023 (268628) (4,072) (6,088) (492,099) (2,627) (773514)
REEHENE Deprecation provided during the year (42672) - (88) (56,534) (331) (99,625)
RE Impairment (106,378) (6,599) (41) (75,680) (243) (188.941)
& Disposal 152 - 8 2680 1,680 4520
s Written-off - - 147 3786 109 4,042
ERET Exchange realignment 5936 - 212 15,516 45 21729
RZE-=F+-A=F+—HR Asat3! December 2023 and
“E-NE-F-H 1 January 2024 (411,590) (10671) (5,850) (602,331) (1347)  (1,031789)
REEHRENE Depreciation provided during the year (34599) - (55) (42,605) (525) (77.780)
A Impairment (131,656) (8.167) (50) (93,666) (Go) (23386
hE Disposal - - - 9,566 707 10,273
s Written-off - - - 1,104 127 1,231
ERET Exchange realignment 6016 - 189 14,421 19 20,645
RZB-ME+-A=+—0  Asat31 December 2024 (571827) (18838) (5,766) (713511) (13200 (1311262
REfHE Carrying amount:
W=8-MmE+=A=1+-H  Asat31 December 2024 381,144 43829 183 262,155 48 487,793
RZBZ=F+-A=1- As at 31 December 2023 574,559 35,443 218 408,760 1315 1,020,495
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

B3 Note:
(M AEEAZHAELHMEFRBERRZIE 0} The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings as at the end
HESWOT : of the reporting periods are analysed as follows:
—ER-EF —E=F
2024 2023
FHERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$’'000
R B A 2 R ER R 4D Medium term leases in Mainland China m 574,559

(i) RKRZTZWFE+ZA=+—8 TEEE
T8 )% B £9176,190,0008 T (ZFE - =4 :
216,036,000/ 7T) 2 EF - WiFE KR E W
B LES AN EBEER 2 RITEEE (I
FE25) ©

ME- -BEERXEBZREAAFEH
RER & IRARMI T8

(i) As at 31 December 2024, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$176,190,000 (2023: HK$216,036,000)
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
—E_NmEF —B=F
2024 2023
FET THT
HK$’000 HK$’000
n—H—H As at 1 January 31,738 40,629
KEEHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (1,309) (1,336)
BEEE Impairment loss (VAAL)] (5,876)
& & &5 Exchange realignment (1,188) (1,679)
R+ZRAR=+—H As at 31 December 21,822 31,738

CRAEEERLIHERE BIEES
ERET L (E2URPE) ARE
FEHIRAEENEMBORA

R-ZZE-_WFEF+=—A=+—H FH
TEBEH13,989,000/8 T (T - =4 :
15,355,000/ 70 ) B T & R AR IR 17 15
K (fF7E25) °

FHEEEZREIRFBTIEANREGS
B SRR M sE18 o

The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights, comprising
cost of acquiring rights to use certain land, which are principally
located in the PRC, for operating purposes over fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$13,989,000 (2023: HK$15,355,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. B EE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. BRIERE

17. MINING RIGHTS

= A FAET
Patent HK$'000
AT
HK$000 B Cost:
RZEZ=%F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 55,800
A Cost: b+ &5 Exchange realignment (1,989)
RZEZ=F—A—H As at 1 January 2023 50,747
BT Exchange alignment (1.809) R=FB=-=F+=A=t+-AK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E-NFE—-H—H 53,811
W=B==F+=A=F—HR  Asat31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R Exchange realignment (1815)
—E-_NME—-HF—H 48,938
&R B3 Exchange alignment (1,652) W-Z-mE+=-A=+—8 As at 31 December 2024 51,996
R=ZZNET=-A=1T—H As at 31 December 2024 47.286 HETEe Accumulated amortisation:
N_ZE_=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 9,255
R BERREE Accumulated amortisation and impairment: REEHH Amortisation for the year 2,416
R-ZE-_=%—H—H As at 1 January 2023 29,808 BB EE Impairment loss 6,642
N EHH Amortisation for the year 4,503 W =7 Exchange realignment (373)
BB Impairment loss 2,443
EXRES Exchange alignment (1.012) R-E-_=%+-A=+—-HE As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
—E-_E—-H—H 17,940
R-ZEBE=Z=F+=ZA=Z+—HEK As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 IR S8 Amortisation for the year -
—E-NE—-HF—H 35,742 YA Er 8 Impairment loss 8,756
NG £t Amortisation for the year 4,415 & X 57 Exchange realignment (455)
VERIEN g Impairment loss 2,095
£ E Exchange alignment (1.128) R-—E-mE+—A=+—8 As at 31 December 2024 26,241
R-Z_MF+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 41,124 EEE Carrying amount:
R-B-NFE+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 25,755
BRME{E - Carrying amount:
R-EBE-_ME+=-H=+—H As at 31 December 2024 6,162 R-—E-—=—&+—-F=+—8 As at 31 December 2023 35,871
RZE_=F+=_A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 13,196

BREEZREARAFBEHRES

BRI 18

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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EHRDRTEEEREEILTOEE
EREOEEE ARGHANERT
BABE 3 o

RERBRENAZFBEHNGS HB
#&%Kﬁuf 18

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine located
in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is amortised by
the production quantity over the ore reserve.

Details of the impairment testing on mining rights are disclosed in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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18.

132

ME BERZHE ERE
EE EFREERRBREZ
AR

HE-_T-_HmNF+_A=1+—HIF
B AEENEBEXRBATEYELES
B THEREEEESHRG - EREE
EREBHNReELEMN ((ReEL
B MEERBETINESR  N&E
ERERBGFERETR  WHIEMR
B9 B #) 687,793,000 T (—Z T — =
£ :1,020,495,0007% 7T) * 21,822,000/%8

7T (Z T =4 : 31,738,000 75) -
6,162,000/ 70 (=& = = 4 : 13,196,000
W IT) }25,755,0008 L (Z T = =4 :

35,871,000/ 7T ) B ¥ % - Jﬁﬁ%& S
FRBEE BREERKBEREETT
BB -

WELEBHAEEMBNRESES
BluzalE e MAEES G
&ﬁ%?i MZTHK@%%E B
RABYIAER —BEERHS KD
XEE- iﬁ%?‘i SAMEEREE
%4 /7415320008 L (ZFE =4
1,101,300,000/& 7T) °

REEABMHATKRESEDREG®
BEEfTEEr N-_E-_F+=
A=+—H Z#aEFREREAEE
EEBHENRERISCFNITBIEE
WIS METEN  FANMEIRX
£1355% (=4 : 13.90%) - {Bifs
SE(ZE-_=ZF :5F) R RE
THfE3.00% (Z T - =4F : 2.16%) K
REE - HEARITEERTER - BT
BHEBTENRPBFEHEEER -FH
BEFENS BHXZBRAEEK
A EMERLEESTH  DRBERSE
EEMMBATRALREEEYMSH
RETEHET -

18.
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s business
was underperformed and incurred losses due to the constraints to
working capital. In view of the economic performance of the cash
generating unit (“CGU”) of magnesium product business which
was worse than expected, management of the Group concluded
there was an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$687,793,000 (2023: HK$1,020,495,000),
HK$21,822,000 (2023: HK$31,738,000), HK$6,162,000 (2023:
HK$13,196,000) and HK$25,755,000 (2023: HK$35,871,000),
respectwely.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, including allocation of corporate
assets when reasonable and consistent basis can be established.
The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was approximately
HK$741,532,000 (2023: HK$1,101,300,000).

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering the following 5 years with a post-tax discount rate

13.55% (2023: 13.90%) as at 31 December 2024. The cash flows
beyond the five-year (2023: five-year) period are extrapolated using
3.00% (2023: 2.16%) growth rate, which is based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculated is the budgeted revenue, gross margin
and operating expenses which are determined based on the cash-
generating unit’s past performance and management expectations
for the market development.

18.

19.

ME BENRE FHE
EE EBEFEERRBREZ
WAERE (2)

BEREFHER AEEEEEE
FREEABMHATKESEERE
HAE -RESECIEZAEEARA
CTRFHNSEDE BEREZE -
CTAEEEREBREEE UNESHEA
BEMNEHETEREZERAEAR
BREERKA &=E EFREE
LE-REFEHEBEFELSER B
EME - BERZE TRAEEE-
mEEEREREE Y RAEE
MZEEENRAESD HERREE
18 #7233,842,0008 T (Z &2 = = F :
188,941,000 7T) * 7,419,000/ 7T (=
T — = £ :5876,000% JT) * 2,095,000
/%rc(_?__i 2,443,0007 7T) &
8,756,000/ 7T (=& = = 4 : 6,642,000
/%TE)

FE
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18.

19.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS (continuea)

Based on the result of the impairment assessment, management of
the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU is
lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
allocated to each category of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives such
that the carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its value
in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation and the
allocation, impairment loss of approximately HK$233,842,000 (2023:
HK$188,941,000), HK$7,419,000 (2023: HK$5,876,000), HK$2,095,000
(2023: HK$2,443,000) and HK$8,756,000 (2023: HK$6,642,000) has
been recognised against the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights
respectively within the relevant functions to which these assets
relate.

R ¥ Raw materials
BIFK o Finished goods

INVENTORIES
—E-NEF —ET—=
2024 2023
TExT TABIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
57,962
45,425
103,387
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20. EWE ZERR 20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E_NEF ==
2024 2023
FExT FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEUWE 5 R (HFEG) Trade receivables (note (i)) 139,243 145,687
A EEEEEE Allowance for expected credit loss (138,968) (144,038)
275 1,649
FE U R Bills receivable - 1,556
3,205
P 5E - Note:
0) AEEHERF2ESEEURBELAHE (i) The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The

7 -REH-—RTERIBOR - BEEFFPE
ERBRERE - AR EEREEZHR
ENEEFRY HRERRFEERE -5
MEBFEREZD R G  EN LR
o MmzAEBZEEESETERRS
DRZEF  BUESANEESETER
AEEWEAEEEE ZRREHRFTEE
MEMRKEREERARE - BRES
BRRTEFLE

RBEMRZEREHID>NERE
SEFXHBEREEEERE) 2K
BOMW TR :

credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are interest-free.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance
for expected credit loss, is as follows:

D RY60K Within 60 days
61290K 61 to 90 days
91E 180K 91 to 180 days

S —E=4F
2024 2023
TET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

1,649

1,649
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

EREZEREHREEBEREBEE The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of trade
PN receivables are as follows:
ZEZNF —E=F
2024 2023
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F1 At the beginning of year 144,038 153,383
EHEEBEREBERDFE Reversal of allowance for expected credit
loss, net AAK)) (3,948)
VEH =% Exchange difference (3,357) (5,397)

RER At the end of year 138,968 144,038

RERE B RRBBEEBREETRE
o NEFEBRHMEEER - BEX
DERAARUBREN (A ERE
g EmBE - ERFEARFL AR
5 ARk H A2 = /015 A 4R B #O R (R
HE)WZEATEPHOMAESHNAREER
AHREE - AT E R AR NEE
R EEFEMRBEEHRTSEH
BAEE M - B AT R TROR R AR
MRNEREZER FHREEEBR
BREEIE YN s

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Details of assessment of expected
credit loss was detailed in Note 39.
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20. EWE ZRNR (2 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. BARE - RS R HEA4EU  21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
_ £
HKABBEES N AEEE S EKK Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on I
EMEERBRERNAT the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
—BNEF —E-=F
2024 2023
= o g@ - o o
FEHEsER E'Eﬁ;; =l BiEEE 5 5T T T
ross HK$’000 HK$'000
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance T8 14 k8 (B 3E3) Prepayments (note (i)) 164,511 182,631
FET FET e Deposits 1 190
HK$’000 HK$’'000 H th & Wk 3E (B 22 Gi)) Other receivables (note (ii)) 3,631 2,996
—E-WFE+=HA=+—H 31 December 2024 o L5817
BVER (R HR) Current (not past due) 277 2 e ’ '
B R IE More than 1 year past due 138.966 138.966 TEEEESERE Allowance for expected credit loss (23) (93)
139,243 138,968 168,130 185,724
memER A RE- BHEEEE None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The allowance
78 HA &5 18 R BE M 488 5 18 B BB E M EWRIERR - for expected credit loss was related to other receivables.
Gross .
Expected carrying Loss Mot Notes:
loss rate amount allowance 0) RZZBE-_MFE+-A=+—8 BNFKE (i) As at 31 December 2024, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of
T T TAT EBREGFE AN KELD1462507,000% inventory of approximately HK$142,507,000 (2023: HK$180,743,000).
HK$YOOO HK$YOOO 0 (—Z = =4 : 180,743,000/ L) °
L — = 5= (ii) HAibfEW KRB EZ B ERN R E ] W= A (if) Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
_2__‘$+_H =+—H 31 December 2023 B 492,509,000 7T (=T = =4 : 2,268,000 approximately HK$2,509,000 (2023: HK$2,268,000).
BIHA (K3 ER) Current (not past due) 0.66% 1,660 1 ) o
B AR 1 More than 1 year past due 100% 144,027 144,027
e hEMmEWRBZEREEEE The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
145,687 144,038 BEZEHHIT deposits and other receivables are as follows:
FEWE S RFBETHOFBH RN Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out —m—mE —m—=
FE39 ° in Note 39. 2024 2023
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
F4 At the beginning of year 142
FEHEEBIERERD Reversal of allowance for expected credit
loss (44)
EHERE Exchange difference (5)
RER At the end of year 93
e R EMBUWRIERETGHNFS Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables
BAKTEESY o are set out in note 39.
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited HER EEERER AR
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22. BeRhREEHEER

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ReMREFEER

Cash and cash equivalents

—EomF —F==
2024 2023
TRRT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

24716 39,954

RB|EBR AEEUARKHEZ
e kiFeFEEE 4 A13900,000%
TL (=T = =4 1 24,621,000 7T) > A
RETSEHLHLEMER AW
R B HNE B IR GO K EE - S0E
LNEERERE AEEEESRE
REAREELEBNRTHEARE
HBMBHEME -

RITBSDHREBERITEARITERF
RZFPNERBME - RFAEKH
BSREHR EMEMFERZHR
R=EA BEE B 2 EHERFK
FMEBRBAME - RITFERFRRAR
IHE R RSB A R (S SRAC 8RR SRTT
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At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$13,900,000 (2023: HK$24,621,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

23.

24,
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FEY B 57 IR

RBERARREZEHEAINENE
PR R DT IR

23. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

“E-NEF —TE-=F

2024 2023

FET T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

ENNIFN Within 60 days 5,248
61290k 61 to 90 days 32
B E90K Over 90 days 10,192
15,472

ERNESERTTNE SEBHER
B EBIBI80K °

HtBENREREFERAR
BHER

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within 180-day terms.

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

—E_E —=E=
2024 2023
F& T BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Est & A (M) Accruals (note (i) 3,292
H b e 5 308 (M REGD) Other payables (note (ii)) 22,460
25,752
&a#aE (G &Gv) Contract liabilities (note (i) and (iv)) 26,477

R R BT IRA R AR
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24, HttENREREFEAR

140

EHEE R

EEtERAMEMBEMNRELSRE KA
BMBEBREE -

GEE

0] WZZ-—mE+=—B=+—8 " E:HX
FEAIERT H & 8 T8 Fl 492,373,000
JTL (=T == : 24920008 7t) REFT &
¥ & F#9790,000/ 7T (=T = =4 : 800,000
) o

(i) RZFE-ZWFE+—A=+-—8 HtE[
FRIEE B R FE R B499,624,0008 T (= F
— =4 :3,721,000 ) °

(i) ERHEEHEDNBEPRITANE A%
ERREFTBINENESE - DEEZS
HENRFERRNTHERIHRERA
EHEE - AFEBEIREAHNEEHRES
H) UL 25 49 526,477,000 T (ZE - = 4F ¢
14,598,000/ 7T) ° AN &% B R A TB A BRIE T
BWFBRIEEAREDRS - MA LT K
NRERLFEETZRARMAETRUFE M
R RESBEIVIRCERHEENEE
M -

vy AREEZZEHOT

24, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continuea)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2024, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrued salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$2,373,000 (2023: HK$2,492,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$790,000 (2023: HK$800,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the other payable was mainly represents interest
payable of approximately HK$9,624,000 (2023: HK$3,721,000).

The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$26,477,000
(2023: HK$14,598,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily
for the provision of finance to the Group.

The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:

“E-RE —T=F
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R—A—Rz#&# Balance at 1 January 26,477 14,598

BAFERENBHETERZ K Revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied during the year (26,477) (14,598)

FRKRReEHZEHNABEEN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of

receiving deposits during the year 23,933 27,223
IE &7 Exchange realignment (764) (746)
RTZA=Z+—HAz&# Balance at 31 December 23,169 26,477

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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25. BORROWINGS

—E-NEF =T ==
2024 2023
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HRITHERK Bank borrowings 67,251 69,600
E 18 3R (B EEG)) Other borrowings (note (ii)) 284,961 265,248
352,212 334,848
B3 Borrowings:
—F AR EKEH Due within one year or on demand 108,833 111,228
MFEA EE BB A FHBR Due within a period of more than two
ZI| B years but not exceeding five years 243,379 223,620
352,212 334,848
B BEERB AE ST Less: Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities (243,379) (223,620)
THERBBELE Amounts shown under current liabilities 108,833 111,228
W BAREFENIERER Less: The carrying amount of bank and
R AR KEENRTT other borrowings that are repayable
FHAMERREE (R E on demand due to loan defaults or
a&E5R) (V) breach of loan covenants (shown
under current liabilities) (note iv) (108,833) (111,228)
B — F N EN SIE B EN Amounts shown under current liabilities
ZIRIT R H MBS ER B for the bank and other borrowings that
BEZEHE are repayable within one year or on
demand -
B Borrowings:
BHEM (W) Secured (note (i)) 194,327 189,782
A Unsecured 157,885 145,066
352,212 334,848
R EEERER AR
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25. fa ;K () 25. BORROWINGS (continued) 25. fe /(4 25. BORROWINGS (continued)
REBEEBRZEENE (TMESEREH The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to GEE Notes:

ME)HEMT contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as () HEMEHRL194327,0008 7T (- E = =4 : () Secured borrowings of approximately HK$194,327,000 (2023: HK$189,782,000)
follows: 189,782,000 7t.) |t 42 F5 e E BIE R A IR were guaranteed by Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and a
RAIR—RARMBARER  WAEE fellow subsidiary, and secured by pledged property, plant and equipment
Y E - BB &R £9176,190,00078 7T K& of approximately HK$176,190,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
8z #z= 1?%%%3@%’913,989,000%775(:g:_iﬁ: HK$13,989,000 (2023: property, plant and equipment of approximately

Y1 - R E &R £9216,036,0000% T K HK$216,036,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$15,355,000).

—E-WmEF ZT=F P 1 7 415,355,000/ 7T ) {E4E 48
TZA=1+—H [pyei=al= . o . i} o
tEE LERE (ii) %&‘rlﬂ{a HEFERQBEE /AR ([ W‘i\ (ii) Other borrowings included (a) an International Finance Corporation (“IFC”)
AN R ) ) E R A941,582, oooﬁé (= loan of approximately HK$41,582,000 (2023: HK$41,628,000); (b) liabilities under
Year ended Year ended Z =% 1 41,628,000 7T) : (b)ERE AGT %\J the Creditors’ Scheme of HK$243,379,000 (2023: HK$223,620,000).
31 December 3‘] December IE\ ™ ﬁ 1,%243,379,0005% JT (: T = i :
2024 2023 223,620,000/ 7T) °

TERT FHET RZEZZFRA=1T—H A2BHA As of 31 May 2022, the outstanding borrowing in the principal amount of
HK$'000 HK$'000 720,419,000 TR R EEE R E RIFE# approximately HK$720,419,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
AGHEIERRR - BIBEERAGE - XER Scheme. Pursuant to the Creditors’ Scheme, the admitted claims had been
FERF & Effective interest rate: REHD @Et’.’r( VER T FHRBEERE ([BE allocated into (a) a 5-year term extension option (“Option A”) and (b) a
'_Hﬂ_i—{ﬁ;" Fixed- ) 0 0 A RO)ATEREFSREERE (F2 convertible bonds swap option (please refer to note 28). The option A had
_’E RREEEN ixed-rate borrowings 8.47% 8.47% i) &28) EEEADERERSHA K: extend the maturity date to 31 May 2027. The effective interest rate of Option
FERER Variable-rate borrowings 4.25%-5.48% 4.25%-5.48% T+t FRA=T B -BEEAME A is 8.47%, and the initial recognition of such liabilities is HK$198,594,000 and

142

fERAT I EHEE -

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

(iii)

TS My
£198,594,0008 L R—ZZE=-—WME+=A
=+—HME#EE T A243,379,0004 7T ©

RZTZEZWNF+=ZA=+—8 " RITEX
&,H\‘nﬂ{a A BRI R4 87.39% (=

(iii)

amortized to HK$243,379,000 as of 31 December 2024.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as of 31
December 2024, is approximately 7.39% (2023: 7.31%).

—E-_NE —E_=F To=4F:731%) -
2024 2023 _ I N

T 58 7 T (iv)] AEBETEEBRAAEXNEELHES (iv)  Certain of the Group’s facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
7T e /L BEANZHERGE R_T-_WNF+=A commonly found in lending arrangements. As of 31 December 2024, borrowings
HK$’000 HK$’000 =+—H " RHE4%(E%108833,000% 7T (= with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$108,833,000 (2023: HK$111,228,000)
T =& 1 111,228,000/ JT) WY & F3E KR were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were classified as current
AR RMB 67,251 69,600 REABREFEZE IR _T_MF+= liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December
ST HK 243.379 293620 A=+ —BHGREVBRKIRPSEAR 2024. The Group is in negotiations with the lenders to refinance the borrowings
/% $ : ' HEBE AEBETHEEFERURTRE at the end of the reporting period. As of the approval date of the consolidated
ys us$ 41,582 41,628 HARABERBRE NEAMBREIE financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor

HER - FallfER S REBRI M REE - repaid.

352,212 334,848
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217.
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RZE-_ME+-_A=+—HEKZ
::¢+fﬂf+ E%HEEE%
RAFEREER  RERRERE
& o U R A R IR R B
WEEFHESEE - BIREREE -

I FE YA

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN INTERMEDIATE/

IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount due (to) an
immediate holding company is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The amount due from an intermediate
holding company is unsecured, interest-bearing at a fixed rate of
5% per annum and repayable on demand.

27. DEFERRED REVENUE

B8 M R 2 U 3R

Government grants received related to
assets

—E_NEF — ===
2024 2023

FHE T FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000

RRESBEEZER BUTXRE
TEBEBREXERAAIN_FT——_FH
BHBFRI S — D ek - IR
EHBRARERNAUTRE S EHE
XERRABERETBE (BB A
HEELEEMBREREME BE L
RIBHERE °

@ TR CNMERZIZBE=F+Z

+ BIEFE - A% B I & UKE
Eﬂﬁ% MBE-_ZT-_WNFR-F
T+ A=t BLFELEE
WEHE@WA iR FE WA B T EDR
DT HRRE R ZRAE -

P sl i /= IR W R IE 2 B B - ¥ 06 B
RARE LW A K E 1& AR T & AR
X ERZATHEEENRAFHNE
P AERR ©
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In order to encourage the development of magnesium industry,
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Limited entered
into an agreement with the local government in 2012. Pursuant
to the agreement, the local government agree to provide financial
assistance (the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property, plant and
equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has
not received any Assistance and there were no other income was
recognised for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
carrying amount of deferred revenue decreased due to the arise of
exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is initially
recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently recognised in
profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by way of as a
reduced depreciation charge expense.

28. MHEBRES

RZE-__FNARH  AQAR
BEERBRAFENERETASEBE
458,390,000/ ST M = B A iR (& H
([AregmEs]) -

AERESE TESFE AERN NG
fE(B0.933B L (ERMAFEHR ZFE
EFAE) (ZZTE =4 : 0.9338 7T) R E
e AEBELSNESEA BB BT
HERREF AT - F A AR A EIRE
FEHARMBERELER - AQAH
JERIA R A (N R EE R R r s R E S -

BERAERERGROFE F2H8
ARrBPR-—FT-_—_FHhA=ZHHN
K e

RZE_MFRA+H  ARFIEE
HERMB=%RESFAE A (Ming Xin
Developments Limited * Fong Chi Keung
K TWLS Partners) BB EH 9 A& &R
12,536,000 T AIE M E S - BE &
#H 40 /316,000,000 7T - B EE B A #
K FE T F) B A& 491,727,000 7T - B E &6
“K%@“EM@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁj‘m
ARERDRE#E 9 88 D KA
EES D ZF‘W%%EZU 244,000/ 7T
B IEFER - Ft - & 2£493,259,000
BETHEREORNGaERRNER -
BB B A SRR 518 R AR B Y
ER1E 491,244,0008 L 2L B A RETE R -

REASBENEFTRE AJBBRES
REGOLENERATAREREA
BEEESTENERIIBERER
BELED WEBRERERAEBNU
BEeBnRekn HeMEER
BEEHENARAAG DT AE
B AERETAE BENSINAAE
BRI E®R T ANRITH IS
EELEE - EMo RN Emr [ A8
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁé\ fwIET27 - H1TAE
ﬁi%%ﬂiwﬁéﬁiiﬁﬂwﬁfﬂifﬁfﬁﬁﬁ
jﬁ#éﬁii Mo -BEBINIZ
EEE@H%E@,\%?E?FU?Z%SM%
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 August 2022, the Company has issued zero coupon convertible
bonds (“Convertible Bonds”) with aggregate principal amount of
HK$458,390,000 pursuant to the terms of the Creditors’ Scheme.

The Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.933 after adjusted for the effect of
rights issue during the year (2023: HK$0.933). The maturity date of
the Convertible Bonds is 5 years from the date of issue. Conversion
may occur at any time before maturity date of the Convertible
Bonds. The Company will redeem the Convertible Bonds if the
bonds have not been converted on maturity date.

For more details of the terms of Convertible Bonds. Please refer to
the Company’s circular dated on 3 May 2022.

On 10 May 2024, the Company had early redeemed the Convertible
Bonds partially with the principal amount of HK$12,536,000 at
redemption amount of approximately HK$16,000,000, which held
by three bond holders, Ming Xin Developments Limited, Fong Chi
Keung and TWLS Partners. The accrued interests up to redemption
date are approximately HK$1,727,000. The fair value of the liability
component at the date of redemption with the difference between
the fair value of the liability component and the redemption
cost allocated to equity component and the equity component of
approximately HK$1,244,000 had been derecognised. As a result, an
aggregated loss of approximately HK$3,259,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Upon the redemption
of the convertible bonds, the remaining value of the conversion
option reserve of approximately HK$1,244,000 was released to
accumulated losses.

According to the Group’s accounting policy, the Convertible Bonds
are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument. The fair
value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
The equity element is presented in equity under the heading of
“convertible bond equity reserve”. The issuer redemption options
are considered as closely related to the host debt and are not
separated from the host contract. The effective interest rate of the
liability component on initial recognition is 8.47% per annum.
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28. ATERES () 28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. ELEHRIEA 29. DEFERRED TAXATION
?ﬂ FETATTEBRESERHEEHNER The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds equity FARNGAETBRARERZELER The components of deferred tax balances recognised in the
EERNIBRERERBAF - reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon expiry. THEBRHEK D REZFHNT : consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year as follows:
RZE_NE+_A=+—0 7% The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
BEHBEIH MR A E A363,526,000 Bonds at 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$363,526,000 (2023: EEHREERS Deferred Tax Liabilities
B (ZEZ =4 : 347,170,000/ 7T) ° HK$347,170,000), which are within level 3 of the fair value
/'\ AN 4 =40 o H n "
LTE_J' &E’J;ﬁ & hlerarchy. ﬂﬁ@%% {Eﬁﬁgﬁé :vurﬁ_
_ Convertible Right-of
rEEeRIANEEEREARE The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments bond use agssets Total
AL i+ . . _ . — .- —
SEMEE reasonably approximate to fair values. Tl Tl T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FABRTHNAERESEHIFAREE The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have been split into $ $ $
BoREZHDWT : the liability and equity components as follows: RZE-_=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 6,861 2,693 9,554
d‘)\ﬁ?é\?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁi\@ Credited to consolidated statement
— 2mEAE of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income - (73) (73)
HK$’000 A e IR(E S E ) H Deferred tax related to movement of
AEBRESRETEHRNAAE Fair value of the Convertible Bonds at the issuance date 352,175 i ’%ML%RIE convertible bonds (2.238) - (2.238)
EZED Equity Component (5,005) R E Exchange realignment - (99) (59)
RETHENABES D Liability component at the issuance date 347,170 %:?:E As at 31 December 2023 and
BRI (M5E8) Interest expenses (Note 8) 28,892 i—j A= T-ER 1 January 2024
FARAED Early redemption during the year (12,536) —EF-_m%—A—A 4.623 25525 7,148
RZZEZMF+_A=+—HHK Liability component as at 31 December 2024 At Ak E B kA Credited to consolidated statement
aERH 363,526 EEBARK of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income - (72) (72)
B EIRESE B H R Deferred tax related to movement of
ZIRERIE convertible bonds (781) - (781)
IRAE R S BES Early redemption on Convertible bonds (205) - (205)
M &5 Exchange realignment - (13) (13)
R-ZZE-ME+=A As at 31 December 2024
=+—H 3,637 2,440 6,077
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited HER EEERER AR
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EERIE (£)
EEHEAEE &)

AEBRABBR (BB FEATR
BEBEENT I E 1B 4 /94,090,000%8
T (ZF = =4 : 36,537,000 70) © I
AIMERAKEEEREBEBEENAR
BIRRERT G - KEB IR E
N EERBEESET(ZE=F
ZHET)  BR—EREF A H LK
ARERBEFN AREWRBLAACE
BiE—RERARBSEERD G FT
EAEHELEEWB AR IBAE 2B
EiE - BB EBENS U ARERE
ERTEEE ©
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (continuea)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) assessment of approximately
HK$94,090,000 (2023: HK$36,537,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Mainland China of HK$nil (2023: HK$nil) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised by these
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding dividend taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries, associate, and joint ventures established in
Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. There was no significant
temporary difference associated with investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associate in Mainland China at the end of the
reporting period (2023: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

30. IR &K

AATEEREBTRAZ 2
mF -
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital is as follows:

BETRESRE

W E(E0.018 T B
(ZZE=Z=%:001/ET)
RN-_ZE-_=9—H—H
BATHRR G (M sEa)

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01
(2023: HK$0.01) each

As at 1 January 2023 395,063,402

Issuance of right shares (Note a) 197,531,701

Number of Share
shares capital

(=5 &)
R&GE A IR 2
HK$’000
THET

M-ZFB-=H#+=-HA=+—H " Asat 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024

“EEE-A-HBR
—E-OmE+ZA=+—H

592,595,103

B 5E

(a) R-ZEBE-_=ZF+A=+H  AQAER=
TZ=FAAZ+—RAEHEMRBEAR
MR —RERRGD 2 EEEITHR R
BEATRHEKRKRK.08E T

5T &I A R EE1,230,21 28 £ AR A% 1 o B it
& 4 Rtk - T AR A T EE AR AR (B R R AR AR 19
H B 5 55093378 T 1280,242,892% ©

EHEZHE F2HARARBHAEZT
—=Ft+tAXNA-—E-_=F+A=-++
AR=ZT_=F+A=+tBzRA%-

Note:

(a) On 30 October 2023, the Company carried out a rights issue on the basis of one
rights share for every two existing shares held on 21 September 2023 at the
subscription price of HK$0.08 per rights share.

The scheme company applied for 1,230,212 rights issue. With the effect of the
rights issue, the adjusted conversion price per share and number of conversion
share would be HK$0.933 each and 80,242,892 respectively.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6
October 2023, 27 October 2023 and 30 October 2023.
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31. B

RZZE—+F+-_AWNB AQAFK
R EMIREE 8 ([Z518)) - Bi&
ZETE ARRAIEREERETASE
BErERNEFERECEERES K

31. SHARE OPTIONS 1. BRE %)

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was BE-E_mMER=-ZE=-=

approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under the Scheme, $ -|_ - H = -|_ — A1k i];
the Company may grant options to the directors or employees of

the Group and any substantial shareholder, consultant or adviser,

31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023

EEMERSERA DEE S8 distributor, contractor, supplier, service provider, agent, customer " o . 7§7:’Z\
ERRGYAER HEWTAEE% CRE 'R and business partner of the Group (the “Eligible Participant”) to N o - 7577’% T
REBBRE((EERZHE] AR subscribe for shares in the Company. ~ _,Hi ‘%_fi _7_?$ _%ili ﬂ%:,ﬁa
BEA AT R o I R 1 £R ER +2H t-A TRzt #R#E2
-F-B @REHE Rtz 1z 31 %z =t-H  =t-B HReEk SHEERK
BERENERESERENBEEENGRE - Options may be granted on such terms and conditions in relation to Ik AR Wik R RR Rl AR 4 i fiie mﬁ{%
B CE M 7 E A GRS AGEmEE their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the directors may determine AdJUSFEd
B ﬂ%fﬁ(&ﬂ% HEBZE B ER in its absolute discretion, provided that such terms and conditions FAETEE
B R RAG AR — B - shall not be inconsistent with any other term conditions of the . s
Scheme. Exercisable per share
Adjusted price per after
w/ﬁﬁﬁT\@ﬁb’AMT SRR OInNN The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i) the upothe it JEA0IE it e sharebgfore ‘themghts
BRI AR SR ®RES closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the Stock Heldat  completion granted exgrcwsed canceued apsed Held at Heldat rights issue issue on 30
BB 78 £ IR 2 T B (DR 15 10 B 4 Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the option: 1 January . of the Hetd.after during  during the during during 31 December 31 December on 30 October
ERERZAHIABERSBREER (i) the average prices of the shares on Main Board as stated in 228 rightsissue - rightsissue the year year  teyear - the year s A Oetoner 2022 2}52,3
FreRsmEXRMINEER 2 FHE: the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading A iE
K (B {0 2 E B o 78 & B I 8% 7F 3¢ days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and Hh Hk$
HEESTUR S B O EREARE - (i) the nominal value of the shares. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. ) k&
Employees 8,170,000 1040280 9,210,280 - - - (9210280) - - 8 7
EER2BREARBRER LD BB The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible Participants 7000000 - 7000000 - - - (7000000 - - b N/A
ZEETEAHALEHERAEESNE remain in the service of the Group or substantial shareholder from
ZREAER - H 1T E AR - the grant date of the share options up to the designated exercise ® &
date. Directors
Mt 1,500,000 190,994 1,690,994 - - - (1690994) - - 8 7
EEEMAIRENARERA = The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise Shum Sai Chit
8 A B B 170 H s A v i 2& of the options granted to each eligible person in the twelve-
BOTRKBEZTHOROEE  T57# month period expiring on the offer date must not exceed 1% of the LDy 230000 g 2182 - - - (81g) - - 8 7
WALEE D EITRA% - W[ A K EH issued share capital of the Group. Where any grant of options to a Kwong Ping Man*
FERFRIBIFRNTES (AEBES substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
B YT {7 B B A ) 35 HH A ) B AR i & of the Group, or any of their respective associates, would result in KER 250000 g W18 - - - (13) - - 8 7
BEHZERE R (BEZB) LEMA the securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options Cheung Sound
+ @A ABMER EALTEERK already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, Poon
HERNE2MERE(REE2TFE B cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelvemonth
A K i AR AT B0 BB AR A ) JE 1T 7 3 period up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing 10170000 1294938 11464938 - - - (11464938) - - 8 7
TRETETNESHEE  ()AaHER in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of securities in issue; 7,000,000 - 7000000 - - - (7000000) - - b N/A
*E AR D BITEFM0.1% ¢ K(i) (14 and (ii) (where the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
BHR §§2Fﬁim)$ﬁﬁ§mﬁﬁ’\xhtﬁ having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the MI000 129498 18464938 i i C184649%) i i i i
El HH%Z m{E 5T & /48 {88 3B5,000,000/8 securities at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such
CRBEINEHEREASCASEER further grant of options must be approved by shareholders of the X M E-mEAA -+ NBRA . Retired on 28 June 2024

iﬁt}& °
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Group.

RZE_=ZF+_-_A=+—BER=F
“WE+ A=+ —BHIERBHEKRT

150 R g -

No options were outstanding at 31 December 2023 and 31

December 2024.
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31.

32.

152

BREE

RAFERBH  ZeT 8 E T A 31T
ZARDNBIEHBE (B Ll ERITHE
AR RE) 522,871,9500% - lEE R A A
AE H D BITIRA#)3.86% ZstEl 2
BRTERNBLE IR T -4
+—AMBEM -

BHE-_Z—hWFE+-_A=+—8B 1%
ERERNZERE FA-EXHE
EEEXEE RN EAH13,509,000
BT -BAZGEEBEANEZFER
= ANE R B HRE.285% T £l
ITEEE - TEERE R B N RL6.729%
ZE54.568% ~ FE ER B F X1.459%=
1.758% © 491 1013 10FFEFTIE IR EF
B R B BUR 25 R 1.64 - IR TBHI MR (B O
MNIZEREMAZ2ORIE - HIRIE
H-_ZE—ZEF+_A=+—HE_ZF
—NE+A-+AEBNERKRENS
IJ-I— *ﬁn‘l—kﬁt?ﬁe‘m"
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of Shares
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme (including
the above Options outstanding not yet exercised) was 22,871,950
representing approximately 3.86% of the issued share capital of the
Company as of the date thereof. The remaining life of the Scheme
is approximately 4 years and to be expired on 4 December 2027.

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended 31
December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant inputs
into the model were share price of HK$0.285, at the grant date
and adjusted for the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%,
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of
Options of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years and dividend payout
ratio 1.64. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of
daily share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July 2019.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current year and prior period are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 60 of the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”) amounted to
HK$Nil (2023: HK$521,318,000). Under the Companies Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of the Company is also available
for distribution to the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid
or distribution made out of contributed surplus if to do so would
render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due or the realisable value of its assets would thereby become
less than its liabilities.

The Group’s special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1993, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
EfFERAR
LRE EfFIE TERES @t
Due
to holding Interest Convertible
companies Borrowings Payables bonds Total
TR ThR THT TR THx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZZRE-A—R As at 1 January 2024 (3,139) 334,848 3,721 347,170 682,600
BERLNE Financing cash flow 3,026 - (3,721) (7,210) (7,905)
ERES Exchange realignment - (2,395) (325) - (2,720)
EtEREET: Other non-cash movement;
JEfTFI 2 Interest payable - 9,954 - 9,954
ERFIETE Effective interest expense 19,759 - 28,892 48,651
REBDT#RES Early redemption of convertible bonds - - (5,326) 3,464
RZZ-MEF-A=+—HE  Netdebt as at 31 December 2024
EBFE 352,212 , 363,526 734,044
e/ (f
}‘*HQ“
b &3 I8 ERES B
Due from/
(to) holding Convertible
companies Borrowings  Interest Payables bonds Total
THEL THT THL THT THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WZE-=%5-F-H As at 1 January 2023 2871 320,104 8474 320,048 651,497
BERRNE Financing cash flow (6010) (901) (8,474) - (15,385)
B E5 Exchange realignment - (2.463) 687 - (1,776)
Ry Other non-cash movemnent;
ERFE Interest payable - - 3034 - 3034
ERASR Effective interest expense - 18,108 - 21122 15,230
WZEZZFE+ZA=F—HH  Netdebt as at 31 December 2023
BEHFE (3,139) 334,848 3,721 347,170 682,600
BERHE S EE R AR AR
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34, EEEKF 34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

AEBUREELEEEAKFNERN
B R MTEE14 - 15/K%25 °

36. EXBAEALTRTG (&) 36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Details of the Group’s borrowings, which are secured by certain b) AEBEZEEABERH : (b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15 and 25.

“E-NE —T-=F

35. HiE 35. COMMITMENTS 2024 2023

AN 8 B A SR 45 K I T A AR GE - TET TR

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
HK$’000 HK$’'000

reporting period:

B (fF:9) Directors (Note 9) 1,308

—E—ms —m——s HEmMmFrEERAE Other key management personnel:

- _2024 - _%23 HeRHEMEHES R Salaries and other short term
Tt Tt employee benefits 1,318
HK$’000 HK$'000
2,626
BRI4ERIERME : W2 - W=  Contracted, but not provided for: Property,
Bei plant and equipment 18,872 A—E-—mE4+—B=4—§

36. EXBEEALIRS

MRBH NFER AEEEFT
JIBEREEALRS

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) BRAELZUBHHREAMESTFL (a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

ERBEEERRARZREBELN A
8,677,000 L (Z & = = F
5,822,000/ JT) ° 7% ik 1A A E IR
1 BB MIRENREE (H5E26) ©

pal

R-ZZB-_WF+—A=+—H8H"

MR R A H#ZE R A FMing Xin
Developments Limited%77 &) 7] &
& % 4 5354,554,0007%8 7 (P 5%

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to an immediate
holding company was approximately HK$8,677,000 (2023:
HK$5,822,000). The amount is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand (note 26).

As at 31 December 2024, the convertible bonds issued to
the immediate holding company of the Company, Ming Xin
Developments Limited, was approximately HK$354,554,000
(note 28).

b Zs

- g_ég 28) °
T=AZ1T-H R () HMWARBR-—_Z=Z-_—FN\A— (e) As disclosed in the announcement of the Company published
LLFE ILFE BRIZENAE ([ZAE])) T on 1 August 2021 (the “Announcement”), Baishan City Tianan
Year ended Year ended BCALTRLeBERXZEAR Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. and Xinjiang Tengxiang
31 December 31 December REIEHEENERRER QA Magnesium Products Company Limited, the indirect wholly-
2024 2023 (KRElEE2EWB AR & owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into guarantee
TERT TAT RITEI L ERIBE - UERER agreements with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
HK$'000 HK$'000 MEBETIWRABEIRO AR of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited
ARI(TWRAB] LB XE (“Shandong Hongri”), an indirect non-wholly owned
RMPEERAREINCEEE Management fee paid to an intermediate BEERABR QR (KR EAER subsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
holding company 2,950 BER)NEEZE2EWBAR) BLZ controlling shareholder of the Company), in respect of the

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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RITBIBERHERILEAAR
& %A AR ¥124,960,0007T
HNEZHNNREMT - Btk ILE
AHRARBR EMRBIEILAE
BRNzBEALT RERZHEE
BRARNBIRN EWRANIET 2 BE
X5 WEBST EHRAEILAE
BERZHER  RERTERB LR
RERTE - A RRFRE
RN RETEBERZER
NERERBIREIERTE -
NN B HE SR S iR A
HEREs o BHBAEEZA
EHFEENERITIAESME-

loans amounting to RMB124.96 million advanced by that bank
to Shandong Hongri under the loan agreements. Shandong
Hongri is accordingly a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules and were subject to the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, the Company had not complied with the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent shareholders’
approval requirement in respect of the Guarantees at the
relevant time. The Company has taken various remedial
measures to enhance its internal control and prevent
recurrence of such non-compliance as disclosed in the
Announcement.

R R BT IRA R AR
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36. EXREEE AL
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(f)

N

R5 (#)

BEAQATINR-Z :_Eﬂﬂ
TAREEMNAEEE  AQ

Eﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ*kﬁ@

AIBEET A== N
A+ XREBRE-ZZF-_WMFNA
+HREAB—FHNENRBHE R
BazmaE AR TEH,ﬁﬁ@
BREEZERBERARRHIR
10,000,000 TR B - FFIX &
5% ZERERBE_ZT _F
T+ A=t HIFEEE-

ARELHEXERZERAERA
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FHRAFBUAZENRTE  ERW
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SRR ERFRE o
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(f)
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company published

n 16 August 2023, the Company has entered into the loan
agreements with Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
for a term of 1 year from 16 August 2023 to 15 August 2024,
pursuant to which the Company has agreed to provide a
loan of less than HK$10,000,000 to Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited, bearing an interest rates of 5% per annum.
The loan has been repaid during the year ended 31 December
2024.

As Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is an
intermediate holding company of the Company, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company. Pursuant
to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transaction
contemplated under the loan agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company. As one or more of
the relevant applicable ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) in respect of the loan are less than 25%,
and the loan principal under the Loan Agreement exceeds
HK$3,000,000 but is less than HK$10,000,000, pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Loan Agreement and
the transaction contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements, but are exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice) and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is HK$Nil (2023:
HK$8,961,000).

36 ERBAEALIRS (&)

Q) REFEBAXZIMERAF

EHEMAA(TEHHAR

T4A.7216 -
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”):

- Save as disclosed in the item (a), (c), (d) and (f) above,
the Directors consider that the other related party
transactions disclosed in the Note 36 do not fall under
the definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transactions under
“management fee paid to an intermediate holding
company” set forth in item (a) above are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.73
and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited” set
forth in item (c) was conducted on normal commercial
terms or better, and not secured by the assets of the
Group, and thus are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the other
related party transactions disclosed in the Note 36 and elsewhere
in these financial statements do not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

R R EEERARAR]
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37. ZERE s zEe®M I A

EREMTARKRERRZEmME
LI

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

RERES eI A (%)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

T =F+=-RA=+—H
31 December 2023

birg g
—E-_WE+=-HA=+—H KA E 2
31 December 2024 EREE
R Financial
BRAGTTEZ assets at
cHMEE TREE Financial assets amortised cost
Financial FABT
assets at HK$'000
Financiat assets amortls;tziic%o;; JEWE 5 R R ERERE \ Trade receivables and bills receivable 3,205
HK$’000 IepZehEAMBERRBZSREE Financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables 3,093
FEIWE 5 RF R EWEE Trade receivables and bills receivable RekReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 39.954
Wake RAMERRIBZ2BEE Financial assets included in deposits and other JE Ui A P IR A% R R) 2 SR TB Amount due from an intermediate holding
receivables company 8,961
RekReEMEIER Cash and cash equivalents
55,213
2 HE 5
B BRAGTEZ
BRATEZ LRBE
ca: =R Financial
Financial liabilities at
liabilities at TRAR Financial liabilities amortised cost
Financial liabilities amortised cost FET
FHERT HK$'000
AL FERTE ZRR Trade payables 15,472
BB 5 ER Trade payables 19,418 IAHMENRENREABHAZEHAR  Financial liabilities included in other payables and
FAEMEMNZENEFERZSR/ARE  Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 25,752
accruals 31,911 =g Borrowings 334,848
R Borrowings 352,212 ERBEEERA R ZRIE Amount due to an immediate holding company 5,822
N EEER AR 28 Amount due to an immediate holding company 8,677 AR (E 5 Convertible bonds 347,170
aEnESs Convertible bonds 363,526
729,064

775,744
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities, the balance were approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly comprise trade
and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an intermediate holding company, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings, and
amount due to an immediate holding company and convertible
bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of
the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

9. ¥BEREERE

EERR @)
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ERER (#)
AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk (continued)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

TEBHATEERRS RTFHEE The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
AT #8751 following categories:
MEB1E B 7T AR fd at FE W E Z 8RR H fth & @& B
Internal credit Other financial
rating Description Trade receivables assets
1K = Bz RGHFHNELHRREK B I EEM >HEBEEEE - 1218 A 78 54
B B TRIR RELEERE EEEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
ERERE BEBAREEINRRAENR  BREER HEBEEEE - 121{[ A 78 54
2BEE AREEFERE EEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL- not credit- 12m ECL
but usually settle in full impaired
7 &t RIBAF LRSI EER - B 2HEHEEEE - 2HBEBEEBE-
FHANREERREE LT ARELEEERE AREEFEERE
Doubtful There have been 5|gn|f|cant increases Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-not
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or externally
g FRBETNEECREFEERE HEHEEEE - 2HEHEEEE -
BEEAEEERE EEAEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL-  Lifetime ECL- credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
W A& Tﬁﬁﬁimﬁ“}wﬁ)\}%iﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬂ&% MHAMRE WA AL
%] g [a] 51 I8 ) 3 g OB 5T
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off  Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect

BRI EREERAR AT
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39. IKEKREEEERBE ()  39.

TRABASERLETEMEEER
AR EREEMEERNEERR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuea)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

MhEEE
M AR

External credit
Notes  rating

BEHERATENSREE

Financial assets at amortised cost

[ERE SER 20

Trade receivables 20

Be REMEKFE 21

Deposits and other receivables 21

RITEH 2 A3ZEAa3
Bank balances 22 A3 to Aa3

NEEE 128 Ak 25
R HHEEER R
Internal credit 12-month or
ratings lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
It St if 3 ZRC=F
2024 2023
THER THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000
R rPHEREEHE
-AEEEERE 1,660
Low risk lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired 1,660
ERLE rPHEREEHE
-ABEEEERE -
Watch list lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired N
2] rPHEREEHA
-AEEEERE -
Doubtful lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired -
BR rHEBEERA
-BREEERE 138,966 144,027
Loss Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired 138,966 144,027
ERE NEAESEEER 3,642 3,186
Low risk 12m ECL 3,642 3,186
TEH REAEBREERR 24,716 39,954
N/A 12m ECL 24,716 39,954

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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39. IREREEEEREE &)

AEBCHRKESRARERE Y
BHRELERNESENEETE  RE2H
BHEEBEAEBRERB -KKRE
BHEBEARLCHBREERENER
EHEFN AEBEHZEFRBERE
BB E ERETREYE
EEE-

ERAEBEERREREN —F5H -
AEBEFELEHNERTFERAIN
EEFR -TERREERZ2HAHEER
EBERN(REEEFEERBE) RERBE
ETHEEERE S ERTEEE
ERBRMNER R-_ZE-_WMF+ A
S+ HEZ4AEEREMERSR
8 5138,966,0008 L (=& = = F ¢
144,027,0007% 7T ) #9 BR 50 1% 98 3 B 2 5
fly °
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items on a
collective basis, grouped by aging status and past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its operation.
The following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective
basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of HK$138,966,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$144,027,000) were assessed individually.

RERE &R Internal credit rating
ERERE Low risk
EREE Watch list
R Doubtful

“ECME —T-=%
2024 2023
THEEE ERESRY BERRElE el
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
TER THT
HK$'000 HK$'000

0.5% 0.7% 1,660
TEAN/A TER N/A -

&M N/A TER N/A -

1,660

BERIBERXRTNIREEREE SEANE
HEEMANEOBERENBELRX
tEH e LIRBANHBZR AL
BHRARIE SRR IEER TIAHE

HE_ZT-_MF+_A=+—HILF
E AEEREBREBIGTEREKRE
5 05 SR (B 5 18 B # #: [B18,000% 7T (=
T = F B F A EN3,00008 L) o B
O EEBREATEELEEERED
B FNET IR (B B 451,705,000 T (==
Z = BB (013,935,0008T) ©

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on probability of
default and loss given default over the expected life of the trade
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue costs or effort.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
reversal of allowance HK$8,000 (2023: reversal of allowance for
HK$13,000) impairment loss recognised for trade receivables based
on collective assessment. Reversal of allowance of HK$1,705,000
(2023: reversal of allowance of HK$3,935,000) were made on
debtors with significant balance and credit- impaired debtors.
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9. BEAREEEERBEK &)

TRINTERBETEERNERE

SEFEHREMEEEENES

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified
approach:

9. IBEREEEERBE &)

R REMEKKENS  BEE
RETEEETRARENTHRE R
LA R WK TR Y AT U B 1T A
B c BEEERR  RFHREMNE
ERkRBEMSEIARL ERE LT
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits
and other receivables based on industry credit rating and default
rate. The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition

N

Z \

%Hﬁﬁgf %Hﬂﬁg‘f mASBEIZI2E AFEHEEBEIRE and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
FEEE FEEE S B o
(KRR (EHE
.%.Eiﬁifﬁ) .E.EIWE) TRBERDHIRS & H 4 e Y 208 i The following table show the movement of ECL that has been
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL RNBEHEEEENES - recognised for deposits and other receivables.
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
TER TET THET 2 AN 2HEH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 FEEE REEE
\ B 1218 A (KA (EHE
ERARESERD Reversal of impairment losses e Lif:time ECL Lif:time ECL
recognised (3,935) (3,948) (not credit- (credit-
EAER Exchange difference (5,396) (5,397) 12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
TER THET TET TER
RZB-=F+=-A=+-8H At 31 December 2023 and HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
kZE-_MmE-F—H 1 January 2024 144,027 144,038 - -
v e e i o N_E-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023
ERARESEER Reversal of impairment losses ORAFEERRED Reversal of impairment losses
recognised (1,705) (1,713) 8 racoanised
ENZESE Exchange difference (3,356) (3,357) By e Exd?acr:)ge Z?fference
RZE-_WE+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2024 138,966 138,968

R-E-=#+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023

RZZ-mE—A—H and 1 January 2024
mEe LEMEWREBHARLEER For the purpose of internal credit risk management of deposits EREZNEBERRD Reversal of impairment losses
REBME  AEEEHBEBAERK and other receivables, the Group uses past due informations to recognised
EzFﬁ FERRBERTC BV L ERIAR assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial E XS Exchange difference
BELF - recognition.

. - RZEZWE+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2024
K B @
Not past due Past due Total
TEx TEx TET
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
—E-@mE 2024

BEREMERKTE

Deposits and other receivables

—E-=F 2023
e REMEKHE Deposits and other receivables 3,186 - 3,186

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR EBIERER AR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

For bank balances, the credit risk is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate borrowings (see Note 25 for details).

As management considers the Group’s exposure to the above fair
value interest rate risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps or
other hedging activities are undertaken by management during the
year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank deposits
and variable-rate bank borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and borrowings.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31 December
2024 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum) (2023: 10 basis
points) higher/lower than the actual effective interest rate, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$42,000 (2023: post tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$36,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate. However, such
exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank balances are all
short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity

of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and
banking facilities. The Group’s bank borrowings would mature in
less than one year as at 31 December 2024 based on the carrying
value of borrowings reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments. Specifically, borrowing
with repayment on demand clause and amounts being demanded
by the creditors for immediate repayment are included in the
earliest time band.

R R BT IRA R AR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continuea)

ERE SRR Trade payables
J) AE A ZIANE Financial liabilities included in

“EC@mEt+ZA=1-H
31 December 2024
T REXRHY AERRE
BRA= PR-F BE—F REHAR BREE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year Over 1 year cash flows amount

TR TR TR TET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

19,418 19,418 19,418

FERAZEMBE other payables and accruals 31,911 - 31,911 31,911
& Borrowings 118,462 298,401 416,863 352,212
JERf—ZME 2B Amount due to a shareholder 8,677 - 8,677 8,677
ERES Convertible bonds 30,807 411,583 442,390 363,526

209,275 709,984 919,259 775,744
“E-=%#+-R=1+—H
31 December 2023
INHEFg BRERH RUFARE
EIRA = PR—F BB MEBE REE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year QOver 1 year cash flows amount
FTHT TET TET TAET
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE SRR Trade payables - 15,472 - 15,472 15,472
P AE A ENZERE Financial liabilities included in

STERzemAR other payables and accruals - 25,752 - 25,752 25,752
T Borrowings 7.31 114,949 298,401 413,350 334,848
[ER—2RE 258 Amount due to a shareholder - 5,822 - 5,822 5,822
BEESe Convertible bonds 8.47 29,504 428,886 458,390 347,170

191,499 727,287 918,786 729,064
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective subsidiaries. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
significant foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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40. KD T 2 MR R TR 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. KRR 2 BRI (£) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY COMPANY (continued)
RABTRHMEBRR M BRAKER Information about the statement of financial position of the B
R Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: —E-mEF —FC=F
TZAZ=1—H [z l=!
31 December 31 December
—E-mE —E_—=fF 2024 2023
TZA=1+—H et THRT FAT
31 December 31 December HK$’000 HK$'000
e o E(RBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TET FET L A
HK$'000 HK$'000 & Borrowings 243,379 223,620
AR E S Convertible bonds 363,526 347,170
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET EERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 3,637 4,623
MEBARZEE Investments in subsidiaries 216,704 886,257
FERDABELEE Total non-current liabilities 610,542 575,413
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
4B\ = S Aiap - 5 -
JRE U B B ﬁ =S . Amounts due from sulb5|d|ar|es 203,356 214,375 (BESE)  BEEE Net (liabilities)/assets (199,848) 507 264
P IR A B 2 5RIB Amount due from an intermediate holding
company - 8,961
P # EQUITY
Be RIRTTHES Cash and bank balances 101 209 " .
a BT Issued capital 5,926 5,926
. i (M) Reserves (note) (205,774) 521,318
BB E B Total current assets 203,457 223,545 -
EREH BB Capital deficiency/total equit (199,848) 527,244
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES P Y auny
Hib e RIE R ETE R Other payables and accruals 790 1,323
FER B AT Y %iE Amount due to an immediate holding company 8,677 5,822 R ER_E-_AF=-A=-+\H The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue
KESGEIREETID  LHTI by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and was signed on its
RBEERE Total current liabilities 9,467 7.145 EFREFE - behalf by:
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 193,990 216,400
EEAERABDERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 410,694 1,102,657
L E B 4% 22 +
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
EZE EZE
Director Director
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40. XD Bl 2 AR R R (2)

Bt
AT REHEMT :

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

ERES
R 17 % 8 Bk BB BEXRERE BnfmE BRERE R ER #E
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TR TR TER TR TER TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-F-=%—-8—-H As at 1 January 2023 1,591,606 677,123 419 35,651 30,646 (1,666,192 669,253
FEBER2ALLAE Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - (160,645) (160,645)
BRME R Share option lapsed - - - - (30,646) 30,646 -
BITHRBRRG Issue of rights shares 12,710 - - - - - 12,710
RZZZ=FF+ZA=F—HK Asat 31 December 2023 and
—T-m¥-A—AH 1 January 2024 1,604,316 677,123 419 35,651 - (1,796,191) 521,318
FEBERZEYLAE Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year
Early redemption on convertible
bonds

RAEEAERES

RZZZME+=A=+—H Asat31 December 2024

ARBZEANBHRERE-NNL=F
ARB 2B EMAAETZREE
AmbkBE B RRRN 2 AR ER
BRRBUEFROMEBETIARER
MEHEZBN RE-NAN—FBR
ERNRDE S —BRFRAESETFBERLT
IBABBREAZRAEREKBEH
K °

- (727,092) (727,092)

(1,244) 1,244 -

1,604,316 677,123 34,407 (2,522,039) (205,774)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1993, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
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41. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited
(“Baishan Tianan”), a PRC subsidiary of the Group, received
a court summons from a PRC bank on 2 June 2021, as
disclosed in our 2022 annual report. This summons was
regarding a breach of loan terms and conditions by Baishan
Tianan, with the bank demanding repayment of approximately
64 million yuan in principal that had not been settled, along
with interest and other related costs. As of 16 March 2022,
the Baishan Intermediate People’s Court of Jilin Province
issued an execution ruling, approving the bank’s application
to freeze certain assets owned by Baishan Tianan. However,
on December 22 of the same year, the court lifted the freezing
on the mining rights of Baishan Tianan. Subsequently,
Baishan Tianan was notified by the Baishan Court through an
execution ruling on 5 February 2024, that its pledged assets
would be auctioned from 10 March to 11 March 2024, with a
starting price of approximately RMB133 million. The auction
proceeds were expected to be used primarily to settle
Baishan Tianan’s debt obligations. The first auction, however,
was unsuccessful. On 3 May 2024, the Group received a
notification from the Baishan Court that the Baishan Tianan
Assets would be subject to a realisation auction. This auction
was scheduled to take place between 2 May 2024 and 21 July
2024, with a starting bid of approximately RMB106 million. As
of the date of this report, the auction has failed without any
bids.

Currently, the debt restructuring process for Baishan Tianan
is still ongoing, but it has become increasingly difficult due
to a shortage of liquid funds and the impact of litigation
enforcement, which also hinders the regular operations of
the company. The Group is actively communicating with
creditors, hoping to resolve the lawsuits through settlements
to provide the related enterprises with the necessary time
and space for restructuring. If a new agreement cannot
be reached with the creditors, they may resume legal
proceedings to enforce the court’s judgment. The Group
will disclose relevant information in a timely manner based
on the progress of Baishan Tianan’s debt restructuring, to
keep shareholders and investors informed of any significant
developments related to the restructuring or litigation.
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LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to report
date there were no significant litigations would have material
adverse impact on the business, operation and financial position of
the Group.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

A EWFERBEERZW BRI 2 EH — &

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R

This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

T/'\ °
E 4 RESULTS
BZE BZE #BZE BZE BZE
—E_EE —E-_—& —E-CE —E-=E —E-NE
+=Zf=+-8 +=ZA=t+-B t+=ZA=+-B +=A=+-0 EpS:Ehg:
EEE EFEE EEE LEE IEEE
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
THER TER iR FTHER TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B (i)
Note (i)
ON Revenue 744,836 416,060 383,899 263,491 242,700
Hanafl,/ (E8) Profit/(loss) before tax (68,648) (326,725) 5,632 (425,911) (409,209)
FrEH Income tax (5,363) (5,158) (4,228) 2311 790
REEHF,/(BE)  Profit/(loss) for the year (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (423,600) (408,419)
AT AT ER Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
B/ (BR)
ANBIGEEZEBA  Equity holders of the Company (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (423,600) (408,419)
REEHF,/(BE)  Profit/(loss) for the year (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (623,600)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

EEHAEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R-ZE-EF RIB--§ RIT--F RIZ-=F pstdmll ¢
+t=ZA=t—-8 +=ZA=t-A +=ZA=t-A +ZA=1t-H E¥:Ehds
As at As at As at As at As El
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TAT THER TR TR THET
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEE ()
Note (i)
BEES Total assets 2,556,832 2360619 1873174 1,442,531 1,025,167
BEAE Total liabilities (1,104,910) (1,171,677) (777,222) (829,570) (869,677)
1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
ADEIREZEBA  Equity attributable to equity
& 1l P 1 holders of the Company 1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
1,451,922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961 155,490
B 5E Note:
0} XEREEREBEZUEET HRERFEETR 0} The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared
BIEFFRMER - based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
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